# INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF NEUTROPHILS IN A LUMINAL-LIKE COLD MODEL OF MUSCLE-INVASIVE BLADDER CANCER AND ITS RESPONSE TO RADIATION THERAPY

# SABINA FEHRIC

Department of Experimental Surgery

McGill University

Montreal QC, Canada

June 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirement of the degree of

Master of Science

©Sabina Fehric 2022

## **Acknowledgments**

This thesis and the work done surrounding it would not have been possible without the unconditional support of the people surrounding me. I am forever grateful for their encouragement, help and wisdom that have pushed me and allowed me to grow into the scientist and person that I am today.

I first want to thank my supervisor, Dr. Wassim Kassouf and my co-supervisor, Dr. Jonathan Spicer for the trust they have put in me to conduct this project and for their wisdom and patience throughout. This project was exciting and one that suited perfectly my goals as a scientist. It has been an incredible learning experience, and the environment they have created for their students is extremely supportive. I could not have asked to have a better environment to grow and learn.

I also would like to thank the chair of my research advisory committee, Dr. Alice Dragomir, and the members, Dr. Jacques Lapointe and Dr. Julia Burnier, for their time and guidance during the duration of my project. Their insight was nothing but helpful and allowed me to see the bigger picture in my own project.

An immense thank you to Dr. Jose João Mansure, who has been there, for any need that would arise throughout my project. He has been the best mentor a master student could have asked, when presented with this daunting entry into the journey of graduate studies. Thank you for teaching me, mentoring me, and most importantly supporting me. Your advice has shaped me into the scientist that I am today, and into the person that I am today. I will forever be grateful for your guidance throughout these last two years.

I would also like to thank the past and present members of the Kassouf lab team: Surashri Shinde- Jadhav, Eva Michaud, JiaMin Huang, Jaleh Ebnealian, Gautier Marcq, Ronald Kool, Rodrigo Skowronski. The healthy work environment promoted by each and every one of you has allowed me to grow in a safe environment, that allowed me to explore my full potential. Your guidance through scientific research, but also through life as a graduate student and young researcher have been nothing but helpful. The support and help throughout the long weeks, late-nights and weekends we have spent working with the 100+ mice at the time, thank you. This would not have been possible for me without you all.

I would also like to thank members of the Spicer lab, mainly Dr. Roni Rayes and Meghan DeMeo, for their guidance with a subject I was not fully familiar with. Their insight and helpful tips allowed this project to fully evolve into what it is today and allowed me to grow in this field as an immunologist and researcher.

Finally, this would not have been possible without my entourage, without my family and friends. Thank you for being there for me in these two years and supporting me in this huge endeavour that I have undertaken. To my family, who have supported me in the early mornings and late evenings home. To my friends, who have seen the blood, sweat and tears behind this project, who have been a shoulder to cry on for the failures, and a friend to celebrate the wins. To the people who have balanced my stressful days with some quality time and a moment to breathe and forget my worries. Although you haven't directly contributed to this project, you have contributed to me, and have held down the fort for me when times were rough in these last two years. The impact you all had on the success of this project is greater than you imagine. Thank you.

## STATEMENT OF INTEGRITY

I, Sabina Fehric, attest that the work submitted represents solely my own efforts. I am aware of the University rules and regulations on plagiarism and subsequent penalties.

# Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	7
RÉSUMÉ	9
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1. BLADDER CANCER INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Epidemiology	
1.2 Risk Factors	
1.3 Etiology	
1.4 Symptoms of Bladder Cancer	
1.5 Diagnosis of Bladder Cancer	
2. BLADDER CANCER CLASSIFICATION	15
2.1 Stages of Diseases	
2.2 Non-Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer	
2.3 Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer	
2.4 Metastatic Bladder Cancer	
2.5 Molecular Subtypes of Bladder Cancer	
2.6 Mouse Models of Bladder Cancer	
3. RADIATION THERAPY	
3.1 Introduction to Radiation Therapy	
3.2 Radiation Therapy in Cancer	
3.3 Radiation Therapy Resistance	
3.4 Radiation Therapy and Fractioning Strategies	
4. THE IMMUNE SYSTEM IN RESPONSE TO CANCER	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 The Innate Immune Response	
4.3 The Adaptive Immune Response	
4.4 Immune Response in Cancer	
4.5 Radiation Therapy and its Impact on the Immune System	

5. IMMUNOMODULATORY METHODS USED IN CANCER THERAPIES	46
5.1 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	46
5.2 DNAse I	49
CHAPTER 2: RATIONALE	50
CHAPTER 3: HYPOTHESIS	52
CHAPTER 4: OBJECTIVES	53
CHAPTER 5: MATERIALS AND METHODS	54
5.1 MIBC Luminal-like Cell Line and Cell Culture	54
5.2 IN VIVO MOUSE MODEL	54
5.3 RADIATION THERAPY	55
5.4 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Treatment In Vivo	55
5.5 DNASE I TREATMENT IN VIVO	55
5.6 TISSUE DISSOCIATION	56
5.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY STAINING AND ANALYSIS	56
5.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	58
CHAPTER 6: RESULTS	59
6.1 Assessing tumor growth of the mice treated with different combination of R'	Г,
ANTI-PD-L1 AND DNASE	59
6.2 Assessing Immune Infiltration of Responder and Non-Responder Mice in the	
GROUPS RECEIVING RADIATION THERAPY	63
6.3 Assessing Immune Infiltration in the Tumors at an Earlier Timepoint in the	
DIFFERENT TREATMENT GROUPS	67
6.4 Assessing Differences in Immune Infiltration in Each Groups Over Time	70
CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION	72
CHAPTER 8: CONCLUSION	79
REFERENCES	81

## <u>Abstract</u>

Bladder cancer is the 10<sup>th</sup> most common cancer worldwide. There are two types: Nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC) and muscle-invasive bladder cancer (MIBC). Approximately 30% of patient will present with the muscle-invasive form of the disease. Currently the standard of treatment is radical cystectomy, which greatly decreases the quality of life of the patient and some older patient may not be suitable for the procedure. Radiation therapy has increased in the field as a bladder-sparring treatment for MIBC patient. However, 30% of patients do not respond to treatment and progress to a metastatic form of the disease. Understanding the underlying cause behind this phenomenon could help us predict which patients will respond to the treatment and find ways to improve their clinical outcomes. Our team has shown that in a murine hot tumour model (high immune infiltration), neutrophils and neutrophil extracellular traps play an important role in radiation resistance. However, this was never tested in a cold tumor MIBC model (low immune infiltration), which has a high neutrophil infiltration. Therefore, we set out to understand the role of neutrophils in this cold, luminal-like model of MIBC and whether modulation of neutrophils, with the combination of immune checkpoint inhibitors, could improve the response to radiation therapy.

To do this we performed an *in vivo* study where luminal-like cell line (UPPL), were injected in the flank of mice. Mice were treated with every possible combination of radiation therapy, anti-PD-L1 and DNAse I (which degrades the neutrophils extracellular traps). Tumor growth and survival was monitored in each group and flow cytometry was performed on the tumor samples at endpoint and after 21 days post treatment initiation (midpoint).

Tumor growth was able to show two distinct populations in each treatment arm: some mice had a response to the treatment and some mice did not respond at all. Flow cytometry data pointed towards neutrophil having a role to play in the response to the treatment. Midpoint data showed a very high neutrophil and low CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration in the radiation group alone, and a higher CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration in the triple combination group. This dynamic in the triple combination group changes at endpoint, as the neutrophil infiltration increases and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells infiltration decreases over time. This may skew the survival, which is why no changes are noted in survival of the mice amongst the different groups. This could also be due to the treatment regimens that may require further optimization in the future.

Overall, the data shows clear indication that neutrophils do play a role in disease progression and response to radiation therapy, as differences can be observed among the different treatment arms. Optimization of the treatment regimen and more studies on the tumor samples (for example, immunofluorescence on tumor tissues from the endpoint mice) could help us confirm these results. These findings bring us one step closer to understanding radioresistance and could help us elucidate this phenomenon in the clinic as well. This could help improve the treatment in the clinic of MIBC. It brings us one step closer to personalized medicine, as we would be able to predict the outcomes to radiation therapy and improve the response of patient who would theoretically not respond.

## <u>Résumé</u>

Le cancer de la vessie est le 10<sup>ième</sup> cancer le plus fréquent dans le monde. Il en existe deux types : le cancer de la vessie non invasif sur le plan musculaire et le cancer de la vessie avec envahissement musculaire. Environ 30% des patients présentent la forme avec envahissement musculaire. Actuellement, la norme de traitement est la cystectomie radicale, qui diminue considérablement la qualité de vie du patient, et certains patients âgés peuvent ne pas être adaptés à cette procédure. La radiothérapie s'est développée comme alternative dans le domaine en tant que traitement. Cependant, 30% des patients ne répondent pas au traitement et évoluent vers une forme métastatique de la maladie. Comprendre la cause sous-jacente de ce phénomène pourrait nous aider à prédire quels patients répondront au traitement et à trouver des moyens d'améliorer leurs résultats cliniques. Notre équipe a déjà démontré que dans un modèle murin de tumeur chaude (forte infiltration immunitaire), les neutrophiles et les pièges extracellulaires des neutrophiles jouent un rôle important dans la résistance aux radiations. Cependant, cela n'a jamais été testé dans un modèle de tumeur froide (faible infiltration immunitaire), qui présente une forte infiltration de neutrophiles. Nous avons donc cherché à comprendre le rôle des neutrophiles dans ce modèle de tumeur froide de type luminal du cancer de la vessie avec envahissement musculaire et à savoir si la modulation des neutrophiles, avec l'association d'inhibiteurs de points de contrôle immunitaire, pouvait améliorer la réponse à la radiothérapie.

Pour ce faire, nous avons réalisé une étude in vivo dans laquelle la lignée cellulaire de type luminal (UPPL) a été injectée dans le flanc de souris. Les souris ont été traitées avec toutes les combinaisons possibles de radiothérapie, d'anti-PD-L1 et de DNAse I (qui dégrade les pièges extracellulaires des neutrophiles). La croissance tumorale et la survie ont été surveillées dans chaque groupe et la cytométrie en flux a été réalisée sur les échantillons de tumeurs au point final et après 21 jours après le début du traitement (point médian).

La croissance tumorale a pu montrer deux populations distinctes dans chaque bras de traitement : certaines souris ont eu une réponse partielle au traitement et d'autres n'ont pas du tout répondu. Les données de cytométrie en flux ont montré que les neutrophiles avaient un rôle à jouer dans la réponse au traitement. Les données au point médian ont montré une infiltration très élevée de neutrophiles et faible de cellules T CD8<sup>+</sup> dans le groupe radiothérapie seule, et une infiltration plus élevée de cellules T CD8<sup>+</sup> dans le groupe triple combinaison. Cette dynamique dans le groupe triple association change au point final, l'infiltration des neutrophiles augmentant et celle des cellules T CD8<sup>+</sup> diminuant au fil du temps. Cela peut fausser la survie, ce qui explique pourquoi aucun changement n'est noté dans la survie des souris entre les différents groupes. Cela pourrait également être dû aux régimes de traitement qui peuvent être optimisés à l'avenir.

En résumé, les données indiquent clairement que les neutrophiles jouent un rôle dans la progression de la maladie et la réponse à la radiothérapie, car des différences peuvent être observées entre les différents groupes de traitement. L'optimisation du régime de traitement et d'autres études sur les échantillons de tumeurs (par exemple, l'immunofluorescence sur les tissus tumoraux des souris du point final) pourraient nous aider à confirmer ces résultats. Ces résultats nous rapprochent un peu plus de la compréhension de la radiorésistance et pourraient nous aider à élucider ce phénomène en clinique également. Cela pourrait contribuer à améliorer le traitement du cancer de la vessie avec envahissement musculaire en clinique. Cela nous rapproche de la médecine personnalisée, car nous pourrions prédire les résultats de la radiothérapie et améliorer la réponse des patients qui, théoriquement, ne répondraient pas.

# Contributions of Authors

This project was given to me by Dr. Wassim Kassouf. The experiments were designed under the guidance of Dr. Jose João Mansure, Dr. Wassim Kassouf, as well as my co-supervisor Dr. Jonathan Spicer. The experiments were all conducted by myself, with the help and guidance of the members of Dr. Wassim Kassouf's team: Dr. Surashri Shinde-Jadhav, Dr. Eva Michaud and JiaMin Huang. Guidance from Dr. Jonathan Spicer's team on neutrophil knowledge, specifically Dr. Roni Rayes was greatly appreciated. The analysis was done by myself, under the guidance and discussions with Dr. Jose João Mansure and Dr. Eva Michaud.

## **CHAPTER 1: Introduction**

#### 1. Bladder Cancer Introduction

#### 1.1 Epidemiology

Bladder cancer has been found to be the 9<sup>th</sup> most common cancer worldwide and it is estimated to be the 8<sup>th</sup> leading cause of cancer death in the USA, in men specifically [1, 2]. According to the Global Cancer Observatory (GLOBOCAN), there has been 573 278 cases of bladder cancer worldwide. In the US, it is the 4<sup>th</sup> most common cancer found in men specifically [3]. Geographically, bladder cancer has been found to have a higher prevalence in countries in Europe and North America, and the lowest prevalence in countries in Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa and South East Asia [1].

#### 1.2 Risk Factors

Many different risk factors are involved in the development of bladder cancer such as gender and age. Men have been found to be 3-4 times more at risk of developing bladder cancer men [1, 3]. About 80% of cases are diagnosed in patients over the age of 65, and 90% in patients over 55 [3, 4]. Data suggests that bladder cancer is more common in Caucasians, compared to African Americans [3]. However, African Americans seem to have a higher mortality rate [1].

Certain habits and exposures can also promote bladder cancer development. There is a reported 3- to 5-fold higher risk of developing bladder cancer in smokers, which increases depending on the usage intensity and duration [3, 5]. Approximately half of the bladder cancer cases in men are reported in smokers, with an increase in risk and intensity of the diseases in consumers [3, 5]. Carcinogens found in smoking cause DNA mutations and hypermethylation, which promotes tumor development [3]. Although more research is needed, a recent study on E-cigarettes has found biomarkers of carcinogen present in users which could be linked to the risk of

bladder cancer [6]. Exposure to aromatic amines in the work environment has been shown to potentially increase the risk of developing bladder cancer. These compounds, including 2-napthylamine and benzidine, are found in the manufacturing of products such as dyes, fuels and rubber [3, 5, 7]. High concentration of inorganic arsenic in drinking water has been shown to be correlated with the risk of developing bladder cancer [5]. High arsenic could potentially be found in drinking water sourced from private wells which were constructed in the 1960's, when arsenic was largely used in pesticides [8].

Some diseases are also linked to the development of bladder cancer. Cowden's syndrome predispose the patients for renal and bladder cancer, through the deletion or point mutation of *PTEN* [4, 9]. Lynch syndrome is found to increase bladder cancer through a defect in DNA mismatch repair system [4, 10]. Infection with *Schistosoma haematobium*, a parasite, has been linked to bladder cancer development in the Middle East and Africa [4, 11]. The parasite causes inflammation and tissue destruction which promotes the development of tumor in the bladder [11].

#### 1.3 Etiology

Many factors are at play in the development of bladder cancer. The most common genetic mutations involve genes such as TP53, MDM2, PPARG, TERT, FGFR3, EGFR, ERBB2, BRAF, PIK3CA, and RAS [12]. The p53 tumor suppression is an important pathway involved in bladder cancer development, mostly through alterations in the *TP53* and *MDM2* genes [12]. *TP53* encodes for p53 protein, which is an important tumor suppressor. Multiple studies showed a 50-60% of bladder cancers had the *TP53* mutations, and is more commonly found in muscle-invasive bladder cancer [13, 14]. *MDM2* encodes for a E3 ubiquitin ligase which targets the p53 protein for degradation. This gene is often amplified through mutations such as polymorphisms or

amplification patterns [15-17]. Another frequent mutation in bladder cancer is in the *TERT* gene, which encodes for a telomerase reverse transcriptase [14, 18]. Expression of the reverse transcriptase prevents telomere shortened and is normally downregulated. In bladder cancer, the upregulation of the transcriptase allows the cancer cells to divide indefinitely [18]. Mutations in the *PPARG* gene which encodes a family of nuclear receptors also occur in bladder cancer. These receptors play a role in cell metabolism, immunity and adipogenesis and have been found to be amplified specifically in luminal molecular subtype of bladder cancer [19, 20]. Multiple genes in the RTK/RAS/PI3K pathway are also involved in the development of bladder cancer. Fibroblast growth factor 3 (*FGFR3*), epidermal growth factor receptor (*EGFR*), erb-B2 receptor tyrosine kinase (*ERBB2*), *BRAF*, *PIK3CA* and *RAS* are all commonly mutated genes in the pathway found in bladder cancer, which promote angiogenesis, cancer growth and survival [12].

#### 1.4 Symptoms of Bladder Cancer

Most common sign of bladder cancer is haematuria, or blood in the urine [21]. Other symptoms include urgency to urinate and irritation while voiding the bladder [21]. More advance stages of bladder cancer can induce symptoms such as the inability to urinate, the loss of appetite and weight loss and lower back pain [22]. These symptoms are often related to other ailments such as urinary tract infections and can easily be mistaken for another disease by the patient.

#### 1.5 Diagnosis of Bladder Cancer

Bladder cancer diagnosis is done through a combination of cytology and cystoscopy. Cytology consists of looking at single cell layers to determine whether they could be dysplastic. Although it has high specificity, it is not very sensitive, and therefore, not as powerful for asymptomatic patients of bladder cancer [23]. Cystoscopy consists of inserting a camera through the urethra, to observe the bladder for any abnormalities. If cystoscopy results are abnormal, a transurethral resection of the bladder (TURBT) is performed, where a piece of the tumor is removed to be able to stage and confirm bladder cancer diagnosis [24]. These techniques are still considered the best ways to diagnose bladder cancer. However, many new technics are emerging, that allow for a better imaging and less-invasive detection methods. Recently, photodynamic diagnosis/blue-light cystoscopy and narrow-band imaging have allowed for better imaging technics. Blue-light cystoscopy consists of adding a dye (e.g. 5-ALA) to the bladder which gets absorbed by dysplastic tissues. When the bladder is exposed to blue light, any abnormal tissue will reflect a red light and will be more easily detected [25, 26]. Narrow-band imaging allows for a better visibility of blood vessels and overall allows for better imaging than standard technics, without the need of additional dyes [25, 26]. Recently, liquid biopsies have been emerging as a less-invasive method to detect bladder cancer, through blood or urine samples. Different markers such as circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA), circulating tumor cells (CTCs) and miRNAs have been shown to be linked with early diseases recurrence and correlated to tumor stages [27, 28]. Liquid biopsies could be developed into great tools for less-invasive diagnostic methods. Once bladder cancer is diagnosed, treatment will depend on the classification and the staging of the disease.

### 2. Bladder Cancer Classification

Bladder cancer is first diagnosed through the cell of origin. The three most common variations include urothelial carcinomas, squamous cell carcinomas and adenocarcinomas [29]. Urothelial carcinomas account for approximately 80-90% of bladder cancer [29]. Squamous cell carcinomas and adenocarcinomas are rarer in bladder cancer. Squamous cell carcinomas are more

common in countries which are endemic with the parasite *S. haematobium*, and is linked to chronic bladder inflammation due to the infection with the parasite [30]. Adenocarcinomas are more common in developing countries, accounting for approximately 10% of bladder cancer related radical cystectomies (compared to about 1% in developed countries) [31].

#### 2.1 Stages of Diseases

Urothelial bladder cancer is differentiated through TNM staging and high vs low-grade tumors. TNM staging differs between different cancer types and considers the development of the primary tumor, lymph node involvement and detection of metastasis. Carcinoma *in situ*'s (stage Tis), are considered stage 1 of bladder cancer. Before this, the tumors are considered papillary and are less likely to spread when compared to the flat carcinoma *in situ* tumors [32]. As tumor develops, TNM staging increases. As soon as the primary tumor reaches T2, they are considered muscle-invasive bladder cancer as they breach the muscle layer [18]. No matter the grading of the tumor or lymph node involvement, once metastasis occurs, the bladder cancer is at Stage 4 and is considered a metastatic bladder cancer (Table 1) [18].

Tumors can also be classified by separating between high and low-grade tumors. This classification relies on how dysplastic and different the tumor cells are compared to the original cell. High-grade tumors are more aggressive than low grade tumors. In bladder cancer, low grade tumors are associated with mutations in *FGFR3* whereas high grade tumors are associated with mutations in *tumor* suppressor genes such as *PTEN* and *TP53* [18, 33]. Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), muscle invasive bladder cancer (MIBC) or metastatic bladder cancer have different characteristics in patients and are treated and managed differently in clinic



*Table 1: Bladder Cancer grading and staging using the TNM system.* TNM grading of bladder cancer tumors. These take into consideration the primary tumor, draining lymph nodes and metastasis. Figure adapted from Jacobs *et al.* [34]

#### 2.2 Non-Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer

NMIBC accounts for approximately 70% of bladder cancer cases and can be separated into low, intermediate and high-risk categories [35]. The 5-year disease free survival rates lower as the risk categories changes, with 43% for low-risk, 33% for intermediate-risk and 22% in high-risk NMIBC patients [35]. Patients with high-risk NMIBC have a 45% chance of progressing into MIBC and should get intravesical immunotherapy [36]. This progression usually happens within 48 months after initial diagnosis and patients who progress from NMIBC to MIBC have an overall worse prognosis than patients who diagnose directly with MIBC [37].

Treatment of NMIBC varies on the risk category of the tumor. Overall, TURBT will be performed, both for official diagnosis and for removal of the tumors. Intermediate and high-risk tumors should be continuously monitored through cystoscopies, since it has been shown that 1/3 of these patients need another TURBT later on [29, 36]. These patients often also receive intravesical chemotherapy to kill remaining tumor cells following TURBT.

Intravesical chemotherapy directly following TURBT effectively reduces the risk of recurrence [38, 39]. The most common chemotherapy agent is Mitomycin C, which causes alkylation of the DNA and in turn, inhibits DNA synthesis [35, 40]. Side effects include irritation while bladder voiding and in some extreme cases, bladder necrosis [35]. Gemcitabine has recently been studied as an alternative since it is less expensive, and shows lower levels of toxicity [35, 41].

The most common immunotherapy is bacillus Calmette-Guérin, or BCG therapy. It is the best method to prevent recurrence in intermediate and high-risk NMIBC patients [36]. Originally used as a vaccine for tuberculosis made with an attenuated strain of *Mycobacterium bovis*, it is now considered the best first-line intravesical immunotherapy for NMIBC. The exact mechanism by which this therapy functions is unclear. However, it seems to trigger an immune response, similar to the one triggered against tuberculosis, which causes immune cells to clear any remaining cancerous cells in the bladder [40]. There are two different types of BCG therapy: induction and maintenance. Induction therapy is the first exposure to BCG and is given for 6 weeks [42, 43]. Maintenance therapy is recommended for a duration of 3 years, especially in patients with high-risk NMIBC [43]. BCG therapy has shown to be overall best to prevent recurrence in intermediate and high-risk NMIBC, better then mitomycin C chemotherapy, and helps with overall survival rates [36, 42, 44]. In highrisk NMIBC, both induction and maintenance therapy are strongly recommended [44]. Certain side effects of BCG include chemical cystitis and in extreme cases, BCG sepsis [36].

Some patients do not respond to BCG therapy. BCG-unresponsiveness is characterized in patients who have received at least 1 induction therapy and maintenance therapy and either show persistent high-grade tumor regardless or high-grade tumor recurrence 6-12 months after last BCG treatment. These patients are then treated with radical cystectomy [45].

#### 2.3 Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer

MIBC accounts for 30% of bladder cancer occurrences and has a worse prognosis than NMIBC diagnosis [35]. Approximately 50% of MIBC patients will go on to develop metastatic bladder cancer [29]. Current standard of treatment is neoadjuvant chemotherapy combined with radical cystectomy, which includes pelvic lymph node dissections and urinary tract reconstruction. Different types of reconstruction include incontinent conduit diversions, continent cutaneous diversions and orthotopic neobladders [35, 46]. The addition of platinum-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy (e.g. cisplatin) is recommended as it improves 5-year overall survival when compared to radical cystectomy alone. Cisplatin-based chemotherapy stops cancer cells from growing and multiplying [29, 35, 47]. However, 50% of patients are not considered for neoadjuvant chemotherapy due to their age and comorbidities [48]. Radical cystectomy also has a high rate of complications due to the invasiveness of the procedure; approximately 30% of patients have post-operative complications 30 days after surgery, and 67% have complications within 90 days [49, 50]. Some bladder-sparring treatment options have been developed for patients who may not be suitable for radical cystectomy and neoadjuvant chemotherapy. These include unimodal therapies of radiation therapy (RT) and chemotherapy, partial cystectomy and combined therapies.

Radiation therapy as a monotherapy is done when patients are not fit for surgery. The 5year overall survival however is still lower than in patient who are given radical cystectomy and there is a high risk for salvage cystectomy [47, 51]. Chemotherapy as a unimodal therapy is very rarely used. Combining both chemotherapy and RT is more effective and increases the 2-year overall survival when compared to RT alone [47, 52].

Partial cystectomy consists of resecting out the tumor, while trying to preserve the bladder and its function as much as possible. Specific criteria are needed for a tumor to be considered for partial cystectomy. A single solitary tumor must have 2cm margins around it and the patient must have no previous history of metastatic disease [53]. This procedure has less complications than radical cystectomy but has a higher risk of bladder cancer recurrence. Ultimately, approximately 30% of patients end up receiving radical cystectomy regardless [52].

Currently, the most promising bladder-sparring method is trimodal therapy (TMT) which combines TURBT and chemoradiation therapy. The procedure allows for most of the tumor excised through TURBT, and treatment is followed by both chemotherapy and radiation therapy. The overall survival is comparable to radical cystectomy and people who do not respond can quickly be caught and given salvage cystectomy [47, 54].

#### 2.4 Metastatic Bladder Cancer

Metastatic bladder cancer is the worst possible prognosis, since cancerous cells have spread to other organs. The 5-year overall survival rate of these patients is 15% [55]. Metastasis occurs mostly in the lymph nodes, bones, other urinary organs, lungs and the liver [56]. Treatments given are usually to manage or delay progression of the disease.

Standard is platinum-based chemotherapy, more specifically, cisplatin-based. These treatments are even more effective in patient who show mutations in DNA repair systems since they are sensitive to cisplatin [55]. A combination of methotrexate, vinblastine, doxorubicin, and cisplatin (MVAC) was previously used. However, MVAC is less recommended due to high

toxicity levels, which can cause harmful effects such as neutropenia and cardiac toxicity [55]. Recently, the combination of gemcitabine and cisplatin has been studied as an alternative since it's known to be less toxic in patients with metastatic disease [55]. Second-line treatment options include immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) and *FGFR3* inhibitors and depend on certain characteristics in patients.

ICI's are known to be effective in many different types of cancer, including bladder. The treatment works by administering antibodies that target immune checkpoint molecules, which usually promote immune suppression. By binding to these, T cells are allowed to retain their antitumor function. These molecules include molecules such as programmed death 1 (PD-1) and programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1). Multiple different ICI have been approved for bladder cancer that target either PD-1 (Pembrolizumab or Nivolumab) or PD-L1 (Atezolizumab, Durvalumab and Avelumab) [55] . ICI are used as a second line of treatment in patients who do not respond to platinum-based chemotherapy with the only exception for Pembrolizumab or Atezolizumab, which can be used as a first line of treatment in patients with high levels of PD-L1 [55].

Erdafitinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that targets *FGFR3* is a compound approved for use in bladder cancer in patient who exhibit *FGFR3* mutations [55]. This mutation occurs in approximately 20% of bladder cancer, which makes it an interesting target for therapies [57]. In patients, who receive this treatment, approximately 40% respond to therapy, most of them in a partial manner [57]. If all treatments offered to the patients fail, they are given the option to apply to be part of a clinical trial. More recently, enfortumab vedotin has been approved in patients with metastatic bladder cancer who progress after cisplatin-based chemotherapy and ICI.

#### 2.5 Molecular Subtypes of Bladder Cancer

Another recent approach to classifying bladder cancer is through the different molecular subtypes. For MIBC, it was initially classified into 2 categories: luminal and basal. These have differentiated into distinct subpopulation and are now defined into 6 commonly accepted molecular subtype: luminal-papillary, luminal non-specified, luminal unstable, basal-squamous, stroma rich and neuroendocrine (Figure 1) [18, 58].



*Figure 1: MIBC Molecular Subtypes.* Molecular subtypes of MIBC and some of their known signatures and mutations. Figure adapted from Tran. *et al* [18]

The basal molecular subtype, short for basal-squamous, is a molecular subtype where cells originate from the basement membrane of the urothelium. Specific mutations in these cells include overexpression of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), CD44 and hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF1 $\alpha$ ) [18, 59, 60]. Deletions in TP53 and RB1 are also common [18]. These type of tumors are aggressive and develop into much more advanced stages, often leading to metastasis [61]. Although high levels of lymphocyte infiltration is a characteristic of these, the lymphocyte do not seem to be protective [61]. Treatment for these types of tumors consists of an aggressive treatment plan of cisplatin-based chemotherapy, as basal tumors may respond well to this type of platinum-based therapy [61, 62]. High levels of activating EGFR mutations could also be indication of possible targeting of these mutations. *In vitro* studies have shown that basal MIBC tumor cell lines are sensitive to the use of erlotinib (an anti-EGFR molecule), indicating a potential therapeutic benefit in patients with high EGFR mutations [63, 64]. Basal cells also have a reportedly high level of immune-checkpoint markers and therefore, could be good candidates for immune checkpoint inhibitors [58].

Other important molecular subtypes are the luminal subtypes, which include luminal papillary, luminal non-specified and luminal unstable. The cells originate from the cells in contact with the lumen of the bladder, also called the umbrella cells of the urothelium. Luminal subtypes, especially luminal papillary, have been shown to be the least aggressive subtype and are found in younger patients [18]. Luminal subtypes are characterized by the mutations in *FGFR3* and *ERBB2* gene, and activation of PPAR $\gamma$  pathways [60, 61]. Activation of estrogen receptors and it's pathway have also been found in these molecular subtypes [60]. Luminal molecular subtypes have low immune profiling and therefore, do not make good candidate for immune checkpoint therapies [65]. Luminal subtypes do not respond to neoadjuvant chemotherapy neither [62]. However,

radiation therapy could be an interesting alternative for luminal subtypes as these cells lines have been shown to be at least moderately sensitive to radiotherapy, as they are killed more efficiently by this treatment [66]. Out of the three luminal subtypes, the luminal unstable has the highest sensitivity to radiotherapy since it has the highest expression of cell cycle markers [58, 67]. Therefore, exploring radiation therapy in a luminal-like model could be of interest for these types of patients. Many mouse models and cell lines have been created to study these different molecular subtypes and their responses to treatment, in an *in vivo* setting.

#### 2.6 Mouse Models of Bladder Cancer

Different mouse models have been used to study bladder cancer, mostly focusing on either xenograft models or allograft models most of the time. An example of a xenograft model is a patient-derived xenograft, or PDX. The use of patient derived tissue, which is then engrafted into a mouse to further study it. This method allows to recapitulate exactly the type of tissue that is seen in the clinic. PDX models in the context of MIBC were shown to retain 92-97% of the genetic aberrations once transferred from the patient into the mouse, proving this model is accurate in showing what is occurring in the clinic [68]. The allograft models are murine cells lines which are then engrafted in the mouse as well. This allows the use of immunocompetent mice, as there is no risk of rejection of the implanted tissue.

Many different murine cell lines have been developed to study bladder cancer *in vivo*. Three have been developed in the commonly used C57/B6 mice. These include MB49, BBN and UPPL. Another cell line, MBT-2, has also been developed in C3H/He mice. Out of these cell lines, MB49, BBN and MBT-2 are considered basal-like models, whereas UPPL is considered a luminallike model. The MBT-2 cell line is often used for orthotopic models of bladder cancer [69]. It is derived from bladder tumors in female C3H/H3 mice [70]. These tumors are induced in mice using the carcinogen N-[4-(5-nitrofuran-2-yl)-1,3-thiazol-2-yl] formamide and have epithelial-like characteristics [69]. This cell line was originally very aggressive, which did not allow for long-term studies in mice. MBT-2 was then manipulated to decrease cell proliferation through the dampening of *c-myc* activity, which allowed mice to survive longer [69]. MBT-2 cells express markers found in basal-like molecular subtype such as KRT5, KRT14 and HIF1 $\alpha$ . These also have high PD-L1 expression, which recapitulates the basal molecular subtype as well [68].

MB49 cell line is the most commonly used cell line to study bladder cancer. It is derived from male mice bladder tumors induced through the exposure of the carcinogen 7, 12dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) [68]. Similar to human cells from the basal molecular subtype, the MB49 cell line has high expression of CD44. These cells also have mesenchymal characteristics, such as epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) signalling and fibrosis markers [68]. MB49-I is a more invasive and aggressive form of the MB49 cell line that produces metastasis. This cell line was developed through continuous passaging of the original cell line [71].

BBN cell line was produced through the exposure of C57BL/6 mice to the carcinogen Nbutyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl) nitrosamine (BBN) through drinking water. This method causes highgrade and invasive orthotopic tumors in the mice. This cell line replicates the basal molecular subtypes in human through the high frequency of mutations in *TP53* [72].

Finally, the UPPL cell line, is produced through the knockout of *PTEN* and *TP53* (Upk3a-CreERT2; Trp53L/L; PtenL/L; Rosa26LSL-Luc) derived from male C57BL/6 mice [65]. *PTEN* and *TP53* are common mutations in MIBC, and have been shown to promote invasiveness [73]. These cells lines have characteristics similar to the human luminal subtype cells, such as a papillary

histology and low immune infiltration. Markers found in the luminal subtype, such as high expression of PPARγ and GATA3, are also found in the UPPL cell line [65].

#### 3. Radiation Therapy

#### 3.1 Introduction to Radiation Therapy

Radiation therapy consists of high-energy beams that are delivered to the tumor and target cancerous cells. The delivery of either x-rays or γ-rays allows for DNA damage in cancerous cells, since these are more due to their high proliferation rate [74]. The rays work by passing through the tissues, breaking the chemical bonds and creating ions by removing the electrons from atoms. These ions can then cause serious damage to the cancer cells [74]. Irradiation can also cause damage to the organelles themselves, and can damage the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), mitochondria, ribosomes and lysosomes [75]. Radiation therapy locally controls tumors in certain types of cancer but has yet to be efficient in all types. A secondary effect of radiation therapy has been described over the last decade called the abscopal effect. The abscopal effect is a systemic immune anti-tumour response that is induced after radiation therapy of a specific local region [76]. Different cells can be affected in the tumor microenvironment (TME), and different effects can be seen in the process such as an increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines [77]. Different dosing and regimens can be given, and each have their own effects on the system and the TME.

#### 3.2 Radiation Therapy in Cancer

### *3.2.1 DNA Damage and Repair Mechanisms*

Radiation therapy induces DNA damage, which causes cell death in cancer cells through apoptosis, necrosis, senescence, mitotic catastrophe and autophagy [74]. The DNA damage caused by radiation therapy includes base damages, DNA crosslinking and DNA-protein crosslinking, single-strand breaks (SSB) and double-strand breaks (DSB) [74, 75]. DNA base damages are modification of bases, which then affects the DNA double helix structure. Base damages are play a small role in cancer cell death due to radiation since they are easily repaired [74]. SSB are caused by small nicks in the backbone of the DNA and are also easily repaired [74]. DNA proteincrosslinking are produced by the creation of covalent bonds between proteins and a DNA strands. This occurs in high doses of  $\gamma$ -rays and studies suggest that it does not play a large role in tumor cell killing [74]. The most harmful DNA damage and most important in cancer cell killing due to radiation therapy are DSB, which is highly toxic for cells [74, 75]. In studies DSB can be detected through the detection of a specific marker of DNA damage:  $\gamma$ H2AX, which is a marker of histone phosphorylation. DSB are breaks in both strands and repair occurs in 3 stages: The induction of the damage, signalling pathways and finally the repair phase. [75]. DSB are repaired through either homologous recombination (HR) or non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ). The selected repair pathway depends on the complexity of the break, the chromatin formation and cell cycle [74, 75].

HR occur in heterochromatin and is usually more precise of a method of DNA repair, since it uses a template to repair the breaks. This method occurs specifically in S phase of G1 phase, since a sister chromatid is available for use as a template to complete the missing base pairs [74].

NHEJ is the main mechanism of DSB repair, since it is quick and is a higher affinity process. Repair occurs in multiple steps. Recruitment of Ku70-Ku80 heterodimers first occurs and form the DNA-PK holoenzyme. Incompatible ends of the break are cleaved and processed, followed by the engagement of the DNA ligase complex, which ligates the two ends together [78]. This method is error-prone since addition and deletion of certain base pairs occurs. No template is used compared to the HR methods to ensure the exactitude of the added base pairs. Specific mutations can also affect the DNA repair pathway, such as mutations in *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*. *BRCA1* is an important player in the regulation of HR and in certain types of NHEJ. If mutation occurs in these genes, DNA repair is impaired, and sensitivity to radiation therapy increases [79]. Accumulation of damages that are poorly repaired will cause cell death.

#### 3.2.2 Cell Death Induced by Radiation Therapy

Cell death is defined as the loss of replicative ability of the cell and in turn, the loss of viability. Radiation therapy can induce different types of cell death [80]. Cell death can occur in either a in controlled cell death, or an uncontrolled one, which causes more damage to surrounding tissues [80]. The different cell death types that can be induced due to radiation therapy include apoptosis, necrosis, necroptosis, senescence, mitotic catastrophe, autophagy and immunogenic cell death [74, 80-82].

Apoptosis is considered a type 1 programmed cell death and is often called "cellular suicide" as it is a controlled type of cell death. It is one of the most prevalent types of cell death induced by radiation therapy. The morphological characteristics include cell shrinkage, membrane blebbing, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation and the formation of apoptotic bodies. Apoptotic bodies are small vesicles containing the contents of the dead cells, to facilitate phagocytosis by macrophages and reduce collateral damage to surrounding tissues [74, 80]. When the damage is too large, apoptosis is triggered by three different pathways that involve caspases (proteins that degrade cellular proteins): the intrinsic pathway, the extrinsic pathway and the ceramide pathway [82]. The intrinsic pathway uses caspase 8 as an initiator caspase whereas the extrinsic pathway uses caspase 9. The ceramide pathway is an important pathway induced by radiation therapy. All three pathways converge to activate caspases 3, 6 and 7, which degrade the proteins [74, 80, 82].

Necrosis is considered and uncontrolled cell death, due to extreme environmental conditions which include radiation, hypoxia, heat and pH changes [74, 80, 82]. These conditions induce an increase in pro-inflammatory conditions such as the upregulation of nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ). The cell starts to swell (oncosis) until the cell membrane ruptures and the contents of the cells are spilled into the extracellular environment, which can cause damage to surrounding tissues [80]. Necrosis is usually determined through morphological analysis at endpoint, therefore, does not give the method of cell death, but rather indicates that the contents of the cells were spilled into the extracellular environment [83]. If apoptotic bodies are not properly phagocytosed, they lose membrane integrity and can spill their contents as well and resemble necrosis at endpoint. Therefore, a more definitive term of necrosis should be oncosis followed by necrosis [80].

Necroptosis, a recently discovered cell death, is a regulated type of necrosis [82]. This process is activated by death receptors, more specifically tumor-necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1). When this receptor is bound by its ligand, a caspase independent pathway is triggered, that induces the formation of a necrosome, which causes membrane permeabilization [80, 82]. High doses of radiation were shown to inhibit the caspase 8 pathway in certain cancers, which pushes the production of the necrosome and the necroptosis pathway instead [80, 84]

Senescence is the permanent cell growth arrest. This is triggered by telomere shortening, p53 and retinoblastoma protein (RB) signalling and DNA damage [74, 85]. These are morphologically enlarged and flattened and increase reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. These cells eventually die by apoptosis. Low doses of radiation increase senescence and aren't high enough to induce apoptosis, which can help reduce negative side effects [74].

Mitotic catastrophe, also called mitotic cell death occurs when there is defect in mitosis, due to bad chromosome segregation [74]. This is an important mechanism of cell death in radiation therapy seen in solid tumors. This mechanism is a delayed type of mechanism, and is often seen later after radiation therapy has been given [86]. Cells undergoing mitotic catastrophe are morphologically large cells, with multiple nuclei [86]. There are two different known mechanisms of mitotic cell death. The first one induced due to premature entry into mitosis and a weakened G2/M checkpoint in the cell cycle. This process is thought to be due to an ineffective p53 activation [74, 86]. The second pathway triggers mitotic cell death through the hyperamplification of centrosomes [86].

Autophagy is the process by which damaged organelles in a cell are segregated in vesicle to be targeted for lysosomal degradation upon cellular stress. When this process is excessive, autophagic cell death occurs [82]. This process is seen in both normal and cancerous cells [74]. Radiation causes autophagic cell death through ER stress and the activation of the mTOR pathway. ER stress causes protein folding and triggers the unfolding protein response, triggering radiation-induced autophagy [87]. The mTOR pathway, more specifically the PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathway is the most important pathway in the radiation-induced autophagy. PI3K activation occurs through different stimuli such as hormone, growth factors, oncogenes. The pathway leads to activation of mTORC1, which inhibits autophagy [87]. Studies have conflicting findings on the role of autophagy on the response to radiation therapy. Whether autophagy promotes radiosensitivity or radioresistance is still debated in the literature [74]

Immunogenic cell death (ICD) is the process which is thought to recruit immune cells for killing of the tumor cells and induces immune memory [81]. Overall, ICD allows for an increase in dendritic cell (DC) phagocytosis of tumor cells, DC processing of the tumor antigens, release of IL-1 $\beta$  by the DC in the extracellular environment, and subsequent priming of CD8+ T cell lymphocytes for specific tumor killing [81]. Three events are necessary to induce DC priming and

activation for ICD: cell surface translocation of calreticulin (CRT), release of HMGB1 into the extracellular environment and release of ATP into the extracellular environment. All three event can be triggered by radiation therapy [81]. CRT translocation on the surface of tumor cells acts as an "eat me" signal for DC to phagocytose tumor cells [81]. HMGB1 found in the extracellular environment acts like a danger signal. Through binding to either RAGE, TLR2 or TLR4 receptor, HMGB1 increases pro-inflammatory pathways in immune cells. Radiation induces the release of HMGB1 from tumor cells through necrosis [81]. Finally, free ATP in the extracellular environment binds to P2XR7 purinergic receptor. This process allows the increase of production and release of IL-1β from DC's. ATP is released from dying tumor cells following radiation therapy.

#### 3.3 Radiation Therapy Resistance

Historically, 4 factors determined the response to radiation, called the "4 R's of Radiotherapy". They are: repair, reassortment, repopulation and reoxygenation [88]. Later, a 5<sup>th</sup> R was added: radiosensitivity [88]. Finally, even more recently, reactivation of anti-tumor immune response was added as the 6<sup>th</sup> R of radiotherapy [89]. Many different cellular pathways are involved in radiation resistance of tumor cells, which include adaptive pathways, DNA damage repair pathways, adhesion pathways, inflammatory pathways, developmental pathways, hypoxic pathways and RTK-PI3K/Akt pathways. All of these have important regulators that play a role in the response of cancer cells to radiation therapy [74]. Radiation therapy induces changes in the immune system, hypoxic and fibrotic processes. Although radiation increases pro-inflammatory signals, there exists a balance in our immune system. This triggers an increase in immunosuppressive pathways, which can promote resistance to radiation [77]. Changes in the TME induced by radiation therapy can also induce hypoxia. A hypoxic environment reduces the

production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in turn reduces cell death. This environment prevents DNA damage from occurring and therefore, promotes radiation resistance [77]. HIF1 $\alpha$ also independently plays a role in promoting resistance [77]. Finally, fibrotic processes occur due to chronic inflammation and trigger tissue remodeling and repair. Myofibroblast transformation that occurs during fibrotic events causes excess deposition of components in the extracellular matrix (ECM) that causes scarring of tissues and can impair organ function [77]. All three of these events can be targeted by drugs to try and prevent radiation resistance.

To promote an active immune system and decrease immunosuppressive activity, ICIs have been developed. Certain molecules, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or HIF1 $\alpha$ can be targeted and blocked to reduce hypoxia. Finally, growth factor signalling and signalling pathways for TME remodelling can be targeted by certain drugs to reduce fibrotic processes [77].

#### 3.4 Radiation Therapy and Fractioning Strategies

Different dosing and regimens of radiation therapy can be given to patients to achieve different effects. The conventional radiation therapy treatment (ConvRT) consists of 1.8-2.2 Gy fractions given daily 5 times per week, for 3 to 9 weeks. The total dosage will reach approximately 60-90 Gy [90]. A hyperfractioning regimen (HyperRT) can also be given where each fraction has a lower dosage (0.5-1.8 Gy per fraction) but is given more than once a day, over the period of 2-4 weeks. This regimen has proven superior to the convRT in head and neck cancer, small-cell lung cancer and non-small cell lung cancer, but has not proven beneficial in other cancer, showing that the location and the cancer type have different responses to different regimens [90]. The opposite, a hypofractioning regimen (HypoRT), also exists, where the patient is given doses of 3-20 Gy per day, only a few times in a single week. This regimen was proven as efficient as the convRT in

prostate cancer. However, it could be more beneficial for the patient since it is given over a shorter period of time and allows for less visits from the patient. [90]. In bladder cancer, a convRT regimen is given, with a total dose of 64Gy, given in 32 fractions. A hypoRT regimen also exists and was shown to be as efficient as the convRT, where a total of 55 Gy is given in 20 fractions [91]. Radiation therapy is known to have an effect on the immune system, and different dosages and fractioning regimens will have different effects.

#### 4. The Immune System in Response to Cancer

#### 4.1 Introduction

The immune system and cancer have now been studied for a long time, as they go hand in hand in disease progression. The immune system is first triggered by the response to danger signals. In theory, there are three phases the cancerous cells use to evade immune system detection, which are called "The Three E's". These are: elimination, equilibrium and escape [92]. The innate immune system is the portion of the system which responds first. These are mostly non-specific responses that happen quickly and trigger the next phases of the immune response. Following priming by the innate response, the adaptive compartment gets activated. This response can take a longer period of time to develop but is much more specific to the threat at hand. The development of immune checkpoint inhibitors to counter the evasion of cancerous cells from immune detection has been increasingly interesting in cancer therapies over the last few years. However, the innate compartment is just as important as it is the one that triggers the immune response in the first place, and the interplay between both compartments can also be hijacked by cancerous cells. Defects in the innate portion of the response are also known to cause disease progression, and cancer therapies

have tried to manipulate this compartment, to improve the adaptive response to cancerous cells [93].

#### 4.2 The Innate Immune Response

The innate immune response is the compartment of the immune system which is the first to react upon danger signal detection. Many cells are part of this response including macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils. A recent subset of cells in the innate response has been discovered, termed innate lymphoid cells. These include both a cytotoxic population (NK cells) and a non-cytotoxic population called innate lymphois cells (ILCs) [94]. The innate response is considered a quick and non-specific response with no memory. However, recent findings have discovered an immune memory in innate cells. Not as strong as the adaptive memory response, it still provides some sort of memory for a few weeks following injury [95].

#### 4.2.1 Danger Signals

Specific danger signals are needed to induce an immune response, called damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs). They can be separated into two categories: pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and alarmins. PAMPs are derived from pathogens. In the context of cancer, alarmin are more at play, and are released by cells upon tissue injury. Different alarmins include AMPs ( $\alpha$ -defensins and  $\beta$ -defensins), nuclear binding proteins, heat shock proteins and even certain metabolites. Nuclear binding proteins include nucleosome-binding proteins such as HMGB1 and HMGN1 and cytokines such as IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-33, who can also act like alarmins [96]. Heat shock proteins, which include HSP70, HSP90 and HSP96, are usually intracellular chaperones. When found extracellularly, they act as a danger signal for the immune system [96]. Metabolites that are usually not found extracellularly, such as ATP, can also act as alarmins [96]. These alarmins trigger the chemotaxis of innate immune cells such as DCs and promote their maturation into antigen-presenting cells (APCs) [97]. APCs can then present the antigens to cells from the adaptive immune system, to trigger a specific response to the threat.

Tumor antigens presented by APCs are antigens that allow T cells to specifically attack the tumors. There are three different kinds of tumor antigens: tumor-specific antigens (TSA), cancer germline antigens (CGA) and tumor-associated antigen (TAA). TAA's can also be expressed by normal cells, but they are highly overexpressed in cancerous cells [98].

#### 4.2.2 Macrophages

Macrophages are monocytes who have migrated into the tissues towards the danger signals and have differentiated. There are globally two distinct populations of macrophages: M1 and M2 macrophages [99]. M1 macrophages are considered classically activated macrophages. They are activated through the recognition of pathogens or dangers and develop to become APCs. They have pro-inflammatory properties, by secreting pro-inflammatory mediators such as tumornecrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) and nitric oxide (NO). They also attract other pro-inflammatory cells into the microenvironment such as other M1 macrophages and neutrophils [99]. M2 macrophages are considered alternatively activated macrophages and have the opposite effect of M1 macrophages. These are considered anti-inflammatory and promote a suppressive environment. They secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, IL-13 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ), and thus, can suppress M1 macrophages. They also promote ECM modelling and remove cell debris in the microenvironment [99, 100]. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) are macrophages who have infiltrated the TME. These macrophages have been educated by cancer cells, who promote the differentiation of these into anti-inflammatory phenotypes, and such, most TAMs are M2-like macrophages. Macrophages are the most frequent immune cell in the TME and can sometimes account for 50% of the tumor mass [99-101]. These TAMs promote tumor growth, angiogenesis, remodelling of tissues and suppress anti-tumor immunity and thus, promote cancer progression [101].

#### 4.2.3 Dendritic Cells

DCs are the most important APCs and antigen presentation is considered their main role in immunity. Different subsets of DCs exist, and can be separated into two classes: plasmacytoid DCs (pDC) and conventional DCs (cDC) [102]. Only a small portion of total DCs are considered pDCs, and little is known about their mechanism of action. So far, they have been characterized to play a role in type 1 interferon production [102]. CDCs, the larger portion of DCs, can be subdivided into smaller population, which is differentiated by the expression of the CD11b marker. CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDCs are lymphoid resident and play an important role in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation in the lymph nodes. CD11b<sup>-</sup> cDCs can either be lymphoid resident or non-lymphoid resident and are the most efficient APCs. This type of DC is the main portion that infiltrates into the TME [102]. Another smaller portion of DCs have recently been identified: cDC1, which are efficient in cross-presentation. These stimulate the CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells that are specific for tumor cells through the secretion of chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 9 and 10 (CXCL9/10). A defect in this cell type could promote an anti-tumorigenic TME and promote tumor growth [93].
#### 4.2.4 Neutrophils

Neutrophils play an important role in response to infection, as they are the main defense mechanism of our body against invading pathogens. They occupy a large portion of immune cells, composing from 50% to 70% of immune cells circulating in the blood in humans. Neutrophils must constantly be replenished in the blood since they have a very short lifespan in circulation [103]. They are considered highly plastic cells and will have different actions in the immune response depending on the maturity of the cells and the location (Table 2). Immature neutrophils that may be circulating are considered to have an immunosuppressive activity [103].

A main mechanism of defense of neutrophils is the production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NETs are web-like structures mainly composed from the degranulation of neutrophils of their own DNA in the extracellular environment. This DNA is combined by multiple proteins attached to the structure, and have specific histone citrullination [104]. NETs have conflicting effects on the tumor in the tumor microenvironment. Some proteins bound to the DNA, such as myeloperoxidase (MPO) can have anti-tumorigenic effects and kill tumor cells [104]. However, some studies were able to show that NETs can also promote tumor metastasis, both by trapping circulating tumor cells, acting as an adhesion substrate, and by degrading the extracellular matrix, which allows extravasation of tumor cells from the primary tumor to distant sites [104, 105]. NETs can also act as a physical barrier for the tumors, and block any immune cells from physically reaching the tumors [106].

Neutrophils who have infiltrated the TME are known as tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs). A higher level of these in the TME are indicative of a poor prognosis in the clinic [103]. A high neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is also a marker for a poor prognosis in patients [107, 108]. TANs can have both an anti-tumorigenic or a pro-tumorigenic effect on the TME. They possess

anti-tumorigenic effects through the production of ROS and NO, secretion of alarmins during degranulation and by becoming APC [103, 109, 110]. However, their antigen presenting capacities are not as efficient as macrophages and DC [111]. As cancer progresses, tumour cells promote the differentiation of TANs into a pro-tumorigenic phenotype, promoting tumour growth [109]. These pro-tumorigenic and immunosuppressive neutrophils can also be classified as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs).



*Table 2: Neutrophil Plasticity and Differentially Expressed Markers.* Differences in neutrophil markers depending on maturation and location. Different neutrophils have varying anti-inflammatory or pro-inflammatory effect. Their differentiation is promoted through different mediators. Figure adapted from Jaillon. et al. [103].

### 4.2.5 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSC)

MDSCs are myeloid-derived cells that expand under pathological conditions such as cancer, autoimmune diseases and inflammation. These cells are not fully matured cells that are recruited prematurely, and thus, have more of a suppressive phenotype. Their expansion occurs under the detection of certain metabolites such as prostaglandins, stem-cell factors, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). However, activation of these cells mostly occurs from by-products produced by T cells or tumor stromal cells, such as interferon gamma (IFNy), TLRs, IL-4, IL-13 and TGF<sub>β</sub> [112]. Although their main function is immunosuppression, MDSCs were shown to also promote angiogenesis and tumor metastasis [113]. MDSCs can be further subdivided into 2 distinct populations: M-MDSC (CD11b<sup>+</sup> and Ly6C<sup>high</sup>) and PMN-MDSC (CD11b<sup>+</sup> and Ly6G<sup>+</sup>). Both of these populations are suppressive and have been shown to promote the development of regulatory T cells (T<sub>REG</sub>), which are immunosuppressive T cells [112]. The M-MDSC subset is most similar to macrophages and have their suppressive effect through production of nitric oxide through inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). PMN-MDSC more closely resemble neutrophils and have their immunosuppressive effect through peroxynitrates products from endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) [112, 113]. These are also able to inhibit other myeloid cells and NK cell function. There is still debates in the field on whether pro-tumorigenic neutrophils and PMN-MDSCs are two distinct immunosuppressive population of neutrophils or not, and more research is necessary to elucidate these cells [114]. Some markers have been identified to differentiate PMN-MDSCs and neutrophils, such as CD84, but these have not been confirmed by usage in the overall research community, and therefore, needs to be looked into in more detail to confirm these findings [115].

#### 4.2.6 Innate Lymphoid Cells

The innate lymphoid cells have a similar morphology to lymphocytes, but do not contain any specificity to viruses or memory. The innate lymphoid compartment can be subdivided into 2 distinct populations: NK cells and ILCs [94, 116]. NK cells are considered the cytotoxic portion of innate lymphoid cells. These make-up 10-20% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and are important players in tumor cell killing and virus-infected cell killing [117]. Their cytotoxic activity can occur through 2 different pathways. The first involves perforin and granzyme B, which create pores in the cell membrane and induce necrosis of the targeted cell. The second pathway involved the binding of FasL to the targeted cell, and triggers induction of apoptosis [117]. Many immunotherapies have been researched and developed to target the NK cell compartment in cancer. These include strategies such as adoptive transfer, direct stimulation of NK cells, blocking inhibitory signals of NK cells, and increasing NK cell recruitment in the TME [118]. ILCs are considered the non-cytotoxic portion of innate lymphoid cells and can further be divided into ILC1, ILC2 and ILC3. ILC1s have high IFNy signatures and high expression of T-bet transcription factor. ILC2s are important in parasitic infection clearances and produce T<sub>H2</sub>-associated cytokines upon stimulation through IL-25, IL-33 and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). Finally, ILC3s depend on RORyt and IL-7R $\alpha$  expression and produce cytokines such as IL-17A and IL-22 [94, 116]. The role of ILCs in tumor development is still up for debate. Some studies show that NK cells and ILCs can help clear tumor cells. However, other work shows that they could potentially promote tumor growth. Therefore, more research is needed to elucidate their role [94].

#### 4.3 The Adaptive Immune Response

The adaptive immune response follows the activation from the innate immune response and is more specific to the target danger and creates a memory response for future exposure to the specific threat. There are two compartments of the adaptive response, a humoral response, induced by B cells and a cell-mediated response, induced by T cells. The humoral response allows for the production of specific antibodies by the B cells, who can target the danger. The cell-mediated response involves T cells, either CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup>. These T cells are activated by the innate response, though APCs in the lymphoid organs.

#### *4.3.1 Activation of T cells*

The first step is T cell activation, which must occur through 3 signals. The first is antigen recognition. This occurs through the presentation of antigens on the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on the APCs. Different T cells can have different roles and therefore, bind different MHCs. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells will recognize antigens presented on MHCII, whereas CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will recognize those presented on MHCI [119]. At the same time, the second signal must occur, also termed the co-stimulatory signal. Naïve T cells express CD28 on their cell membrane, which must bind to B7-1 or B7-2 on APCs to become activated and promote their expansion [119]. Finally, a cytokine signal must also be present to differentiate the T cells. Different cytokine stimulation will differentiate the T cells into different populations, specific for the response needed to the current danger [119]. Once activated, the T cells can exert their specific roles in the immune system. A specific subset of T cells will later go on to develop into memory T cells, who will allow a stronger and quicker response to the same antigen, if ever encountered again. Both CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can create memory T cells.

#### 4.3.2 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have many different roles, depending on their differentiation promoted through cytokines in the extracellular environment. Specific T cells called helper T cells promote a pro-inflammatory environment, and differentiation mainly into T<sub>H1</sub>, T<sub>H2</sub>, T<sub>H9</sub> and T<sub>H17</sub>. A subset

of anti-inflammatory, regulatory T cells ( $T_{REG}$ ) also exist to counter the helper subsets. Cancer progression mostly depends on  $T_{H1}$  and  $T_{REG}$  involvement in the TME.

CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells promote recruitment of CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells into the TME, which help target and kill tumor cells. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated through the production of IL-2 into the TME from the CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T cells also promote an anti-inflammatory environment by maintaining DCs. This occurs through the increase in expression of CD40 on the T helper cells, which binds to DCs and allows them to continue having their effective functions [120]. T<sub>H1</sub> differentiate into this subset by stimulation through IL-2 and IFN $\gamma$ . They promote cytotoxic killing tumor cells through their own production of IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  [120].

On the other hand,  $T_{REG}$  cells promote an immunosuppressive environment. These cells have been developed for self-maintenance and to mediate return to homeostasis following an intense immune response. These were first described to be CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells with immunosuppressive properties [121]. Later, these cells have been characterized by their important expression of FoxP3 transcription factor and are mainly identified through expression of FoxP3 in the literature. The induction of T<sub>REG</sub> cells occurs after encounter with TGF $\beta$ , and mainly produce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF $\beta$  [120]. These cells have been shown to play an important role in cancer progression, and a higher infiltration of T<sub>REG</sub> cells in the TME is considered a poor prognosis in cancer diagnosis [122]. T<sub>REG</sub> cells promote an anti-tumour response through their expression of CTLA-4, which competitively binds to B7-1 and B7-2 on APCs and blocks their efficient activation of helper T cells. Thus, promoting a decrease in T cell activation and a dampening of the anti-inflammatory response [122]

42

#### 4.3.3 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are also called cytotoxic T cells (CTLs). These are known to have a direct anti-tumour effect and are important in cell killing. A first mechanism by which CTLs promote cell killing is through the perforin and granzyme B pathway, which forms pores in the cell membrane and initiate apoptosis of the targeted cell [123, 124]. The second mechanism is through FasL-Fas binding. FasL expressed on CTLs can bind to the Fas receptor on tumor cells or target cells and trigger a downstream effect intracellularly in the target cell, that leads to the apoptosis of the cell[123, 125]. Finally, CTLs are very prominent producers of IFN $\gamma$ , which can have many anti-tumour effects such as, improving antigen presentation of APCs, increasing production of ROS and NO, increasing the recruitment of APCs and T cells in the TME and help block oncogenic pathways used by tumor cells to expand [126], Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratios, more specifically neutrophil to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio has been correlated with a poorer outcome in multiple different cancer such as bladder and non-small cell lung cancer [127-129].

#### 4.4 Immune Response in Cancer

Tumors are considered very heterogenous. There are both intertumoral and intratumoral differences in the tumors. Intertumoral heterogeneity is the differences between tumors, and can be affected by aspects such as genetics, differences among people (such as age and lifestyle) and different types and subtypes of cancer [130]. Differences in the tumor itself also exists, called intratumoral heterogeneity. These differences can be intrinsic, such as differences in the type of cancerous cells due to clonal growth, or extrinsic, such as changes in the TME. [130]. One of the differences in the TME, are immunological changes. These differences can be classified by two types: hot tumor and cold tumors.

Immunologically hot tumors are considered immune inflamed. They have high T cell infiltration, high IFN $\gamma$ , increased expression of PD-L1 and higher tumor mutational burden. These types of tumors respond better to ICIs due to their higher T cell infiltration and expression of PD-L1 [131]. On the other hand, cold tumors have very low T cell infiltration. They can be subdivided into two groups: Immune excluded and immune desert. Immune excluded cold tumors have CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells on the outer edge of the tumors, but these cannot efficiently penetrate the tumor core. Immune desert cold tumors have no CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the periphery of the tumor [131]. Cold tumors have low mutational loads, low expression of MHCI receptors and low PD-L1 expression. Other immune cells can be found in these types of tumors such as TAMs, T<sub>REG</sub>, and MDSCs. These do not respond to ICI treatments [131]. Therapeutic attempts have been made to turn a cold tumor into a hot tumor, to allow ICIs to have an effect. These attempt target poor activation of T cells, low homing of T cells and defective APCs, all aspects found in cold tumors [98].

A newer subdivision of immune differences in tumors has been suggested, called immune archetypes. These are more precise than cold and hot tumors and provide a more specific classification. They include 12 different groups, which are: immune rich CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages, immune rich CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and monocytes, immune rich CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, immune stroma CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, immune stroma CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages, T cell centric macrophages, T cells centric DCs, myeloid centric DC 1, myeloid centric DC 2, Immune desert CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages, immune desert monocytes and finally, immune desert CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages [132]. These 12 groups would allow for a more specific subdivision of tumors depending on the type of cell infiltrating and in turn allow for more precise treatment of these patients with different immunotherapies.

#### 4.5 Radiation Therapy and its Impact on the Immune System

Radiation therapy can have a dichotomous effect on the immune system. It can promote an anti-tumorigenic environment, by promoting activation of the immune system and promoting ICD of tumorous cells. On the other hand, radiation can also induce a suppressive environment and in turn, promoting a pro-tumorigenic effect in the TME [133].

Radiation therapy can trigger ICD response in many different ways and activate the immune system. First, production of type 1 IFN (IFN $\alpha$  and IFN $\beta$ ) is increased following radiation therapy. Cytosolic DNA, which can be caused due to the effect of radiation on DNA damage, is detected in the cell by the cGAS-STING pathway. This pathway ultimately leads to the production of these type 1 IFNs, which are considered pro-inflammatory [133, 134]. Type 2 IFN can also be upregulated intratumorally, and trigger an anti-tumor response in the TME [133]. Activation of NK cells also occur following radiation, and an upregulation of MHC Class I expression allows for increased antigen presentation from APCs. Radiation also induces the release of DAMPs in the microenvironment, which allows activation of APCs as well [133]. Finally, radiation can trigger systemic effects called the abscopal effect. The abscopal effect is defined as clearance of distant tumors, that were not specifically targeted by radiation therapy. By radiating the local tumor, distant tumors also regress [135]. This effect occurs through ICD. Activation of APCs locally can provide systemic effects as these cells can migrate and activate distant T cells which can in turn, have a systemic role in distant tumor clearance. While giving radiation does trigger abscopal effect, the occurrence rate is still low in the clinic. Combining it with another therapy such as ICI, may improve the abscopal effect [81, 136].

One the other hand, radiation therapy can also induce an immunosuppressive environment as well. Radiation induces the recruitment of immune suppressive cells such as T<sub>REG</sub> cells, MDSCs

45

and promotes the development of pro-tumorigenic TAMs and TANs [133]. T<sub>REG</sub> cells were also shown to be more resistant to radiation induced death, which creates an immune selection of these cells in the TME over other immune cells, which can promote an overall immunosuppressive environment [137]. Immune suppressive cytokines are also produced in the TME upon radiation, more specifically TGF $\beta$  and IL-10 [133]. Finally, radiation also induces the upregulation of PD-L1 on tumor cells. This is done through 4 different pathways: IFN $\gamma$  production, EGFR pathway, the cGAS-STING pathway and DNA damage. IFN $\gamma$  production from CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, triggers upregulation of immunosuppressive molecules such as PD-L1 on tumor cells [133, 138]. Both the cGAS-STING pathway and the EGFR pathway all induce PD-L1 expression through triggering the JAK/STAT pathway [133]. DNA damage, more specifically DSB produced by radiation therapy induces the increase of PD-L1 on tumor cells as well, through the ATM/ATR/Chk1 pathway [139].

#### 5. Immunomodulatory Methods Used in Cancer Therapies

Immunomodulatory methods have increased in the cancer field as potential therapeutics, as this system plays in cancer clearance or cancer progression. Here, we detail two different potential targets explored: PD-1/PD-L1 pathway and NET targeting.

#### 5.1 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Immune checkpoint molecules are used by the immune system to keep it in homeostasis. After an immune response, these molecules are used to bring back the immune system to an inactivated state, once the danger is cleared. There are many different molecules used to achieve the end result. In cancer, the most important pathway is that of PD-1/PD-L1 interaction.



*Figure 2: The PD-1/PD-L1 pathway.* Schematic of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway showing the interaction between the two molecules and the role of anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 therapy blockade. Figure adapted from Zhang *et al.* [140]

The PD-1/PD-L1 pathway allows for immune tolerance once activation is not needed anymore. PD-1 binds to its receptor PD-L1 and PD-L2 [141] (Figure 2). PD-1 is expressed on T cells once they are activated. The expression of PD-1 slowly increases as a surface marker on these cells. Studies have shown that PD-1 expression is even higher in tumor-specific T cells [141]. PD-L1 on the other hand, is expressed on many different cells such as macrophages, DCs, epithelial cells and sometimes some T cells and B cells can also express it on their membrane surface. Neutrophils can also express PD-L1 on their surface to dampen the immune response and is correlated to a pro-tumorigenic phenotype [103, 142]. Tumor cells will also express PD-L1 on their surface to evade the anti-tumour response of the immune system. PD-L1 expression is upregulated upon increase in IFNγ in the TME, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses and characteristically T<sub>H1</sub>

immune responses [141]. Although PD-L1 is known mostly for its inhibitory signals, it can also play different roles outside of its role in the immune system. PD-L1 can induce effects such as EMT transitioning and a stem cell-like phenotype in cancer cells [141]. PD-L2, has very similar functions as PD-L1, but it is almost exclusively expressed on APCs. It was shown to bind to PD-1 with a higher affinity than PD-L1 [143, 144].

To counter the effect of cancer cells blocking immune activation through this pathway, many molecules were developed. One of these are ICIs. ICIs block the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction through a monoclonal antibody that binds to either PD-1 or PD-L1, and in turn physically block their interaction, and allowing T cells to remain active [145]. Some anti-PD1 molecules used in cancer include nivolumab, pembrolizumab and cemiplimab. Several anti-PD-L1 molecules include atezolizumab, durvalumab and avelumab which are currently in advanced clinical trials [143, 146]. In bladder cancer, ICIs are mostly used in metastatic cases. As discussed previously, atezolizumab and pembrolizumab can be used as a first line of treatment under certain conditions. Although, only 30% of metastatic cases will end up responding to ICIs [147].

Resistance to ICIs in cancers is still not very well understood. There are two different pathways of resistance known so far to ICIs: primary or acquired resistance. Primary resistance occurs when the patient does not respond to the blockade from the start and will never respond. This can occur due to T cell exclusion, resistance to interferon signalling or a local immune suppressive environment [148]. Acquired resistance, on the other hand, occurs gradually. Patients initially respond to ICIs but develop a resistance once they have a secondary treatment phase. This occurs through multiple processes such as loss of T cell function or disrupted antigen presentation [148]. Recent studies have found other mechanisms by which resistance develops. One of these is through the upregulation of other inhibitory molecules such as TIM-3 and VISTA. TAMs were

also shown to clear the monoclonal antibodies that have bound to PD-1 on T cells. Finally, tumor mutation could also occur to reduce the efficiency of T cell killing [149, 150]. Research is still ongoing to find ways to counter these resistance mechanisms to improve the response rate of ICIs in cancer therapies.

#### 5.2 DNAse I

NETs play an important role not only in cancer development. As discussed earlier, NETs were shown to promote tumor progressions through enhancing tumor metastasis through trapping circulating tumor cells and by degrading ECM, which allows tumor cells to extravasate and settle at a distant site [104, 105]. Tumor cells also promote the differentiation of TANs into a pro-tumorigenic phenotype, to promote their growth and survival. These NETs have also been shown to play a role in other diseases such as autoimmune diseases and infections [151]. A simple way to counter NET production is to degrade the DNA portion using DNAse I. DNAse I is an enzyme which breaks down DNA and therefore, in this context, degrades any NETs produced. By giving DNAse I, systemic degradation of NETs occurs. Currently, recombinant human DNAse is a standard of care for cystic fibrosis [152].

### CHAPTER 2: Rationale

Radiation therapy (RT) is an appealing bladder-sparring treatment plan for muscle-invasive bladder cancer. As it was previously mentioned, RT is known to cause an increase in immune cell infiltration to the radiated site, and also systemically, through the abscopal effect. Combining RT with anti-PD-L1 therapies could also offer a better treatment response. In the hot tumor MB49 MIBC mouse model, our team was able to previously show that the combination of these two did improve overall survival and improve immune response, both *in situ* and through an abscopal effect [153]. More work on the MB49 model was done by our team and we were able to identify that neutrophils, through the formation of NETs, play a role in RT resistance. This is done by physically blocking CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration into the tumor core, which was rescued by administering DNAse I [154]. All this work being done on a hot tumor model. Whether it can be applied to a cold tumor model for MIBC (such as UPPL mouse model) requires further investigation.

The UPPL cell line is considered a cold tumor model and therefore, has a very low immune infiltration. Our team has recently started working with this cell line, given to us by Dr. Kim [65], and was able to demonstrate that it has a higher infiltration of neutrophils and a lower infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells when compared to the MB49 model [155] (*Thesis*). Having more neutrophils may be indicative of higher NET production in the tumor and degrading these might prove even more beneficial than what was seen in our MB49 model. Combining RT and anti-PD-L1 may not be sufficient since high NET production may block effective T cell infiltration that is necessary for a good immunological anti-tumour response. By triggering the increase of immune cells through radiation therapy, degrading NET production and blocking the PD-L1 immunosuppressive cascade

in T cells, we may be able to transform the UPPL cold tumors into hot, immunologically active tumors and allow for a better response to treatment in this model.

# CHAPTER 3: Hypothesis

We hypothesize that neutrophils through NET formation and expression of surface PD-L1 are associated with a radiation therapy resistance in a cold (luminal-like) tumor MIBC model. We believe the combination of RT and anti-PD-L1 may not be sufficient to improve the response to radiation therapy and thus, we want to accentuate this through the addition of DNAse I to the combination of treatments.

# CHAPTER 4: Objectives

Our objectives can be separated into two distinct aims

- Evaluate the effect of neutrophils and NETs in a luminal-like tumor model and efficiency of radiation therapy
- 2) Investigate the immunological changes within the tumor microenvironment caused by the presence of neutrophils and NETs, underlying the response to radiation therapy

# CHAPTER 5: Materials and Methods

#### 5.1 MIBC Luminal-like Cell Line and Cell Culture

The UPPL1540 (UPPL for short) syngeneic bladder cancer cell line was gifted by Dr. William Kim (University of North Carolina). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Wisent) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Wisent) and were incubated at 37 degrees Celsius, with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. When cells have reached 70-80% confluency, these were passaged. Detachment of cells was done using 0.25% trypsin (Wisent). Cells were passaged at least twice before injection in mice and for a maximum of ten times. When necessary, cells were frozen in a 5:4:1 ratio of DMEM with FBS, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, ThermoFisher) and FBS. All cell counting was done using Vi-cell-XR cell viability analyzer (Beckman Coulter).

#### 5.2 In Vivo Mouse Model

Male C57B/6 mice were acquired from Charles River Laboratories, Inc, and kept in the animal research facility at the Research Institute of McGill University Health Centers (RI-MUHC). The facility animal care committee (FACC) approved protocol follows the standard operating procedures (SOPs) put in place. 5 000 000 UPPL cells were injected subcutaneously in the right flank of the mice, and mice were monitored regularly for tumor growth. Once tumors were palpable and established (0.1-0.15 cm<sup>3</sup>), mice were monitored every two days and respective treatments was started. Tumor length and width was measured with a caliper, and tumor volume was then estimated using an ellipsoidal formula (estimated tumor volume =  $4/3*(3.14159)*(\text{Length}/2)*(\text{Width}/2)^2$ ). Primary endpoint was established at an approximate tumor volume of 1.5-2 cm<sup>3</sup>. In extreme cases, primary endpoint was set at bad skin ulcerations. Midpoint tumor volumes were cut off at 21 days post start of treatment.

### 5.3 Radiation Therapy

Radiotherapy was given using X-RAD SmART Irradiator Pxi 225cx (Precision X-Ray). Once tumors reached 0.1-0.15 cm<sup>3</sup> and were established, 2 doses of 5Gy were given, 24 hours apart, based on our previous studies [153]. Fluoroscopic guidance was used to allow for targeted radiation of the tumor only.

#### 5.4 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Treatment In Vivo

PD-1/PD-L1 blockade treatment was given through anti-mouse PD-L1 injections, given intraperitoneally to mice (*InVivoMAb*, clone 10F:9G2, BioCell). These injections were given a total of 4 times every other day, at a dose of 250ug, diluted in 200 ul of PBS. Treatment was started on the same day as radiation therapy for groups containing both treatments in combination.

#### 5.5 DNAse I Treatment In Vivo

DNAse I treatment were given intramuscularly to mice (DNAse I, Bovine Pancreas, Biomatik). These injections were given every day for a duration of 14 days then every 3 days, until the tumor have reached endpoint. The dose of DNAse I given was 2.5mg/kg, given in 50ul of 0.9% NaCl solution. Intramuscular injections of DNAse I were given on the thighs, legs were alternated between each injection. Treatment was started the same day as radiation therapy for groups containing both treatments in combination.

#### 5.6 Tissue Dissociation

Once tumors had reached endpoint or midpoint, tumors were excised and weighed. Tumors were separated into fragments for either immunofluorescence, flow cytometry analysis, RNA sequencing or DNA analysis. The fragment used for immunofluorescence were stored in 10% formalin for future paraffin embedding (FFPE). The fragment used for flow cytometry was kept in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 media (RPMI, Wisent) with a supplementation of 10% FBS. Tumor fragments were cut into smaller pieces, before adding mouse tumor dissociation enzyme kit (Miltenyi Biotec). These were then dissociated using a gentleMACS dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec). Once the dissociation program has been completed, samples were passed through a 70-um cell strainer to obtain a single cell suspension. The cells were cleared of red blood cells through the treatment with ACK lysis buffer (Thermofisher). Cells were passed a second time through a 70um cell strainer to get rid of any clumps that may have been caused by the lysing buffer treatment. Cells were counted, and then extracellular flow cytometry staining was started and continued the next day.

### 5.7 Flow Cytometry Staining and Analysis.

Single cell suspension was then separated in 3 different immune panels to observe different types of immune cells. The first panel was used to identify myeloid immune cells. The second panel was used to identify different T cells. The third panel was used to assess the functionality of the different T cells through the production of cytokines. All samples were first stained with a viability dye (viability eFluor780, eBiosciences) and then blocked with an anti-CD16/CD32 used as an Fc Block (CD16/CD32 (Invitrogen)). Cell suspensions were then stained for extracellular markers and fixed for further intracellular markers. Cells were fixed using the

FOXP3/Transcription factor staining buffer set (Invitrogen, eBioscience). Staining for intracellular marker was then done the following day.

The first panel used for myeloid cells used the following antibodies: rat anti-mouse F4/80 – BUV393 (clone T45-2342; BD Bioscience), hamster anti-mouse CD11c – BUV737 (clone N418; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse Ly6G – BV421 (clone 1A8; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse PD-L1 – BV605 (clone 10F.9G2; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse CXCR4 – BV711 (clone L276F12; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse CD45 – FITC (clone 30-F11; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse MHCII – PerCP/Cy5.5 (clone M5/114.15.2; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse CXCR2 – PE (clone SA04E1; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse CD170 – PE/Cy7 (clone S17007L; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse iNOS – APC (clone CXNFT; Invitrogen) and rat anti-mouse CD11b – AF700 (clone M1/70; BioLegend).

The second panel for T cells used the following antibodies: hamster anti-mouse KLRG1 – BUV395 (clone 2F1; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse CD3 – BUV737 (clone 17A2; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse PD1 – BV421 (clone 29F.1A12; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse CD8 – BV510 (clone H35-17.2; BD Bioscience), rat anti-human/mouse RORyt – PE (clone AFKJS-9; Invitrogen eBioscience), rat anti-mouse/rat FoxP3 – FITC (clone FJK-16s; Invitrogen eBioscience), rat anti-mouse CD45 – PerCP/Cy5.5 (clone 30-F11; BD Bioscience), armenian hamster anti-human/mouse Helios – PE/Cy7 (clone 22F6; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse TIM3 – APC (clone B8.2C12; BioLegend) and rat anti-mouse CD4 – AF700 (clone GK1.5; Invitrogen eBioscience).

The third panel was first stimulated with a Cell Stimulation Cocktail Plus Protein Transport Inhibitors (500x) (Invitrogen, eBioscience) to stimulate cytokine production in the immune cells and inhibit the secretion of these in the extracellular environment. Cells were stimulated with the cocktail for 4 hours before being washed and proceeding to the staining steps. The third panel used the following antibodies: rat anti-mouse CD45 – BUV395 (clone 30-F11; BD Bioscience), rat antimouse CD3 – BUV737 (clone 17A2; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse IL17A – V450 (clone TC11-18H10; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse CD8 – BV510 (clone H35-17.2; BD Bioscience), rat antihuman/mouse RORyt – PE (clone AFKJS-9; Invitrogen eBioscience), rat anti-mouse/rat FoxP3 – FITC (clone FJK-16s; Invitrogen eBioscience), mouse anti-human/mouse GranzymeB – PerCP/Cy5.5 (clone QA16A02; BioLegend), rat anti-mouse IFN $\gamma$  – PE/Cy7 (clone XMG1.2; BD Bioscience), rat anti-mouse TNF – APC (clone MP6-XT22; BD Bioscience) and rat anti-mouse CD4 – AF700 (clone GK1.5; Invitrogen eBioscience).

Fluorescence minus one (FMO) controls were produced to acquire through flow cytometry to allow for better gating. The stained cells from all three panels were acquired using the BD LSRFortessa X-20 (BD Biosciences). All files obtained were analyzed using FlowJo 10.4 software.

### 5.8 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism v.6.0c. Survival curve statistics were done using the Mantel-Cox statistical test. 2-Way ANOVA's with Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons were used for analysis of frequencies in immune infiltration. To compute the ratios, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons was performed. All statistical analysis was considered significant with a p value <0.05.

## CHAPTER 6: Results

# 6.1 Assessing tumor growth of the mice treated with different combination of RT, anti-PD-L1 and DNAse

Since the UPPL model has not been very well studied and its response to different treatment regimens is also unclear, we have set to use this model for the duration of our study. The UPPL mouse cell line allows the study of a luminal-like model which represents a cold tumor model, with low immune infiltration. Therefore, we injected mice on the right flank with 5 million UPPL cells, in a 200ul of phenol free media and growth and survival was monitored. Primary endpoint was set at 1.5-2 cm<sup>3</sup> for the endpoint mice, and 21 days for the midpoint mice. The midpoint was selected at 21 days since we hypothesized that the treated mice will survive over 40 days. Mice were randomized in the different treatment groups once their tumors had reached 0.1-0.15 cm<sup>3</sup> (Figure 2).



*Figure 2: Treatment Plan of the* In Vivo *Study.* Mice were randomized in the 8 different treatment groups identified in the figure. RT was given twice, with 24 hours between radiation sessions, 5 Gy each session. Anti-PD-L1 (green syringe) was given in 4 doses, every other day. DNAse I injections (red syringe) were daily for 14 days, after which, it was given every 3 days.

Tumor growth and survival of 8 mice was monitored until the primary endpoint of 1.5-2 cm<sup>3</sup> reached, after which these were plotted and analyzed. These are considered the endpoint mice. Survival plots were separated in groups with RT and groups without RT to facilitate analysis. Treatment with anti-PDL-L1 did not significantly increase survival compared to the control group. DNAse I treatment had a median survival of 31 days, which is significantly longer than the control or the anti-PD-L1 treatment alone. The combination of anti-PD-L1 and DNAse I performed similarly to the DNAse I treatment alone, showing the addition of anti-PD-L1 does not add any benefit in the context without RT (Figure 3). The addition of either anti-PD-L1, DNAse I or both to RT treatment did not significantly improve survival when compared to the group treated with RT alone (Figure 3). All RT groups survived longer than the Control groups (Figure 3).



*Figure 3: Survival Curves of the Mice.* Survival curves were plotted with the 8 mice which were monitored. PDL1 represents treatment with monoclonal anti-PD-L1. Median survival is represented for each group and Log Rank (Mantel-Cox) test was conducted to determine significance, with p <0.05 considered significant.

We've plotted the tumor growth of each individual mice in each treatment group (Figure 4). We distinguished that within each treatment group, two distinct population with different tumor growth kinetics. The control group was used as reference. All mice in this group reached endpoint before day 33. Therefore, we used day 33 as threshold to differentiate the mice into two groups. Within each treatment arm, some mice did not survive past day 33, whereas some mice had a slower growth kinetic and survived past day 33. We've classified these mice as non-responders and responders respectively (Figure 4). Each treatment arm had both non-responders and non-responder, with the exception of the triple combination group. The triple combination treated group only has responder mice. These differences within the group cause large heterogeneity in the results when pooling all the data per treatment group, which could cause masking of effects of the treatment in the responder mice.

We were able to show that day 33 is an accurate threshold to determine whether a mouse responds or not to the treatment. To do this, we've plotted both the mean tumor growth and survival curves of responder and non-responder (Figure 5). Tumor growth kinetics showed to be statistically different among the responder and non-responder. Survival curves showed a significantly larger survival median in the responder compared to the non-responder in each group (Figure 5). Therefore, day 33 is an adequate threshold to distinguish between responder and non-responders. Performing the analysis by segregating between responder and non-responders will allow us to determine what differences may be masked by the heterogeneity in each population.



*Figure 4: Tumor Growth of Individual Mice Until Endpoint is Reached.* Each number represents a different mouse. The x axis represents the number of days while the y axis represents the estimated tumor volume calculated through the formula mentioned in the methods, using the length and the width of the tumor. The red lines in each graph represent the non-responders for each treatment group, while the black lines the responders. Green dotted lines represent the day 33 threshold to differentiated between the responder and non-responders.



Figure 5: Mean Tumor Growth and Survival of Responder and Non-Responder. (A) Mean tumor growth of responders and non-responder in 3 treatment groups. Statistics were down using a multiple T test, with Holm-Sidak correction for multiple corrections. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. (B) Survival curves were plotted for the responder and non-responders in each of the 3 treatment groups. Median survival of each group is represented next to each group. Statistical analysis was done using Log Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

6.2 Assessing Immune Infiltration of Responder and Non-Responder Mice in the Groups

Receiving Radiation Therapy

To determine whether differences in response among the responder and non-responder within each of the four RT treated groups are due to differences in immune infiltration, flow cytometry analyses were done on tumor samples from the endpoint mice. Myeloid and T cell analyses were done with different gating strategy (Figure 6). Once final population are obtained, percentages of total CD45<sup>+</sup> cells (encompasses all of the immune cells) were obtained and graphed for responder and non-responders of the RT groups (Figure 7). To determine whether any differences could be observed among overall responders versus non-responders, we have grouped the data from three of the RT groups: RT alone group, RT and anti-PD-L1 group and RT and DNAse I. No statistical differences can be observed in the T cell compartment among responders and non-responders. In the myeloid compartment, only more neutrophils were observed among the non-responder group, but the differences did not reach statistical significance (Fig 7, p=0.1819). To understand why these disparities are seen at endpoint we sought to understand what is happening immunologically at an earlier timepoint, which are our midpoint mice, sacrificed 21 days after treatment. Of relevance, the responder and non-responder groups start segregating around day 21 (Figure 4). Therefore, events occurring earlier in the response could impact tumor progression across the different treatment arms.



*Figure 6: Flow Cytometry Gating Strategy for Immune Cells.* All gating strategies are shown up until specific cells are attained. After which, each of the isolated immune populations was analyzed for specific markers for functionality of the cells. All flow cytometry analysis was done

using FlowJo v. 10.4. For both myeloid and T cell gating, lymphoid cells were first gated from FSC-H and FSC-A. Following which, doublet cells were excluded from the selected cells (A) Gating strategy for myeloid cells. Once all single cells were obtained, gating was done on all viable CD45<sup>+</sup> cells. Neutrophils were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6G<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>low</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup>. Macrophages were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>. Dendritic cells were gated as CD45<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>+</sup> (not shown). (B) Gating strategy for T cells. Once single cells were obtained, gating was done on viable cells, and then on CD45<sup>+</sup> cells. Cells were then gated for CD3<sup>+</sup> cells, with which we could get our populations of interest: CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells.





# 6.3 Assessing Immune Infiltration in the Tumors at an Earlier Timepoint in the Different Treatment Groups

Immune infiltration was assessed after 21 days post treatment initiation, to determine whether any immunological differences early on, could cause the delay in disease progression. The groups that had no RT treatment did not have significant variation in myeloid infiltration. However, the RT treated group had a significantly higher infiltration of neutrophils (mean of 35.6%) and more specifically PD-L1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils (mean 31.6%) and a trend pointing towards a higher CD170<sup>+</sup> neutrophils (mean 15.5%), when compared to the other groups treated with RT (Figure 8A). The other myeloid cells (macrophages and DCs), did not significantly change between any of the groups.

In terms of T cell infiltration, once again, the groups receiving no RT treatment did not vary in terms of their T cell infiltration. However, in the groups treated with RT, there are some differences and trends. Overall, RT alone had the lowest CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration (mean 12.59%), followed by the group receiving RT and DNAse I (mean 21.28%) and the group receiving RT and anti-PD-L1 (mean 27.08%). The group with the highest overall infiltration was the triple combination group (mean 34.18%). The group treated with RT, anti-PD-L1 and DNAse I had a higher infiltration of specifically cytotoxically active CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (cells with Granzyme B, IFN $\gamma$  or TNF $\alpha$  expression) as well. When comparing to RT alone, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration was significantly lesser than in the triple combination treatment arm. The CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells had infiltrated less in the double combination groups and infiltrated the least in the group treated with only RT, showing an increase in infiltration as additional treatments are added to the mice (Figure 8B). However no significant different was reached when comparing the double combination to the triple combination groups. No differences in the CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell infiltration and the specific subsets.



Frequencies of CD45+ Cells in Tumors from

Frequencies of CD45+ Cells in Tumors from **Mice Treated With RT** 



Frequencies of CD45+ Cells in Tumors from

#### Frequencies of CD45+ Cells in Tumors from **(B) Mice Treated Without RT**



Figure 8: Tumor Immune Infiltration at Midpoint. Immune infiltration after 21 days post treatment initiation. Frequency of each subset of immune cell from the total CD45<sup>+</sup> cells is represented. (A) Myeloid tumor infiltration. Includes neutrophils and their pro-tumorigenic markers, macrophages and dendritic cells. (B) T cell tumor infiltration. Includes CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and certain subsets (T<sub>H17</sub> and T<sub>REG</sub>), CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and specific cytotoxic cytokine expression

associated with these. Statistical analysis was done using 2-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons, with Holm-Sidak correction. p < 0.05 was considered significant.

To summarize the immune infiltration at midpoint, especially in the data that shows variation among groups, neutrophil to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio were compiled from the frequencies of CD45<sup>+</sup> immune cells represented previously (Figure 8). The RT group had a much higher neutrophil to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio than any other of the treated groups (Figure 9A). The ratios were also done using PD-L1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils instead of overall neutrophils, to determine whether the ratio between pro-tumorigenic neutrophils and anti-tumorigenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were also different among the groups. The group receiving RT also had a higher ratio compared to all of the other groups (Figure 9B).



*Figure 9: Neutrophil to CD8*<sup>+</sup> *T Cell Infiltration into the Tumor at Midpoint.* Ratios were compiled using the previous infiltration frequencies. (A) Neutrophil to  $CD8^+$  T cell infiltration in the tumor, for groups without RT and groups receiving RT. (B) PD-L1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils to  $CD8^+$  T cell infiltration in the tumor for groups without RT and groups receiving RT. Statistical analysis was done using Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison test with p < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### 6.4 Assessing Differences in Immune Infiltration in Each Groups Over Time

To determine whether these differences are sustained throughout the treatment, we compared the immune infiltrations in the control, RT and triple combination groups specifically over time. The RT and the triple combination group had the most variation in infiltration of neutrophils and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and therefore, it is interesting to determine whether these variations are sustained over time. To do this, we have compared immune infiltration at midpoint with the immune infiltration of the endpoint mice in each of the three differentially treated groups.

In the myeloid compartment, we do see changes in the neutrophil distribution in both the RT and the triple combination group. At endpoint, there is a seemingly decrease in neutrophils in the RT group compared to the midpoint, whereas the opposite is seen in the triple combination group, who has a significantly large increase in neutrophil infiltration in the TME at endpoint (Figure 10A). Slight changes could also be observed in the macrophage compartment of certain groups.

In the T cell compartment, the triple combination had many changes in the immune tumor infiltration when comparing the endpoint to midpoint. There is a significantly large decrease in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration and in cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell at endpoint in our triple combination group, which is not see in the other groups, who have a stable low infiltration. There was also a significant decrease in overall CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell could be observed at endpoint in the triple combination group (Figure 10B).



*Figure 10: Variation in Immune Infiltration from Midpoint to Endpoint tumor samples.* Midpoint frequencies were compared to endpoint frequencies which were computed using the same gating strategies from flow cytometry data. (A) Myeloid infiltration in the tumor in the control, RT and triple combination groups. (B) T cell infiltration in the tumor in the control, RT and triple combination groups. Statistical analysis was done using 2-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons, with Holm-Sidak correction. p < 0.05 was considered significant.

### CHAPTER 7: Discussion

MIBC is a disease which has low survival and reduces greatly the quality of life of patients. The standard of treatment being radical cystectomy, there is a need to develop bladder-sparring strategies to maintain quality of life and improve patient care in the clinic. Currently, radiation therapy has been an interesting avenue to take for future patients, but many do not respond. We know that radiation causes an influx of immune cells in the radiated area, and therefore, understanding the underlying immune response is crucial to fully comprehend the radioresistance in patients.

So far, most of the pre-clinical work has been done using the MB49 cell. This cell line was used as a basal-like molecular model. Our team was able to previously show that this cell line has a high immune infiltration, thus, being a great hot tumor model [155]. With this model, it was shown that neutrophils infiltrate the TME after radiation, and through the formation of NETs, promote radioresistance. Degrading the NETs through the use of DNAse I or even by inhibiting their formation, our team was able to see an improvement in the response to RT, in this hot tumor model [129]. However, very little is known about the UPPL cell line, which grow as cold tumors with much higher neutrophil infiltration. Thus, the presence of more neutrophils and in turn, of more NETs might also promote radioresistance in this model as well. We seek to understand the underlying role of neutrophils in this model and following radiation therapy.

Our data shows that degradation of NETs through DNAse I treatment does improve survival when compared to control, and anti-PD-L1, strongly suggest that neutrophils and NETs do play a role in disease progression of MIBC in a luminal-like tumor model. Abrogating the NETs in an otherwise normal environment increases survival of these mice and therefore, shows the NETs play a pro-tumorigenic role in disease progression. However, treatments including RT do
not have a significant survival increase from one another, showing that the addition of anti-PD-L1 or DNAse I to RT treatment does not enhance RT efficacy nor improve the overall survival of the mice. However, a lot of heterogeneity is seen in each of the groups, as some mice respond better than others to the treatment, which could mask the effect of a better survival in these mice. When segregating the flow cytometry data into responder and non-responders and assessing the immune infiltration at endpoint into the TME, we were able to detect that neutrophils were the most important immune difference among the responder and non-responders, suggesting that these are one of the important players in response to radiation.

Early immunological events were looked at to understand why the mice start to segregate into these two groups. Flow cytometry data at midpoint showed that radiation alone, causes a high neutrophil infiltration and low CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration. The opposite was observed in our triple combination treatment which had very low neutrophil infiltration and high CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration. Functionally speaking, these neutrophils were pro-tumorigenic as they expressed PD-L1 and the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell were cytotoxically active, as they express cytokine such as IFN<sub>γ</sub>, granzyme B and  $TNF\alpha$ . In the clinic this ratio, also called the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte (NLR) ratio has been shown by our group to be a poor prognosis for patient, and patients with high NLR, seem to have responded poorly to RT [129, 156]. Therefore, early on in the treatment response, our triple combination treatment seems to alleviate the negative NLR ratio, allowing better infiltration of the active CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, which promotes a slower initial tumor growth kinetic, hence why all of the mice in the triple combination group responded to the treatment, compared to the RT group alone or the double combination groups. However, this positive response is not sustained at endpoint in our triple combination group. A complete shift in the immune compartment is seen, where there is a significant increase of neutrophils and a significant decrease in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

The anti-PD-L1 treatment did not seem to be effective in our luminal cold tumor model, without the addition of either RT and DNAse I. This could simply be due to the fact that the UPPL cell line being a cold tumor model, the effects of anti-PD-L1 could not be achieved. In fact, the anti-PD-L1 acts by blocking its interaction with PD-1 found on T cells which would promote an immunosuppressive environment. By blocking this interaction, we allow T cells to continuously remain active. However, as we're in a luminal-like model which is also a cold tumor model, the activated T cells cannot actually penetrate the core of the tumor and have their anti-tumorigenic effects. This is why the addition of RT and DNAse I, which trigger the immune response and allow the degradation of NETs allows anti-PD-L1 to have a stronger effect in the tumor. In fact, NETs were previously shown to physically block CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration and therefore, this phenomenon could be repeated in the cold tumor model [129]. To confirm this in the UPPL mode, immunofluorescence of tissues would be helpful. In short, RT causes and immune influx, DNAse I degrades any NETs that could physically block T cell infiltration and finally, anti-PD-L1 the does have an effect and keeps CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells active. We believe that to fully have its effect and improve response rate in RT treatment, anti-PD-L1 would need to be coupled to these other compounds in the model studied here.

The work done here also demonstrates how mice given the same treatment might not respond the same way, which is relevant to the clinic. We do see in the clinic how some patients will respond to RT, while others will not. Although this could be due to many environmental factors, we were able to show here that this could also be due to immunological factors, such as a higher infiltration of neutrophils. This could allow us to use neutrophil infiltration as a prognostic factor in the clinic but could also suggest a new avenue of treatment for MIBC. Targeting neutrophils and their formation of NETs could help improve the response to RT in the clinic. Our

triple combination treatment only had responders, showing that the combination of all three treatment options could be a viable treatment plan to improve the response to RT in the clinic. However, once treatment is switched to a less stringent DNAse I dosage, tumor growth restarts at a much higher pace then seen initially in this group. The shift in immunological changes could cause the increase in growth rate seen later on in this triple combination group. If we were able to sustain these initial immunological phenotype, more specifically high CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration and low neutrophils infiltration could be beneficial for patients in the clinic, as the tumor growth rate could be slowed down for a long period of time. Understanding the immunological shift in this population of mice could help understand ways to sustain a positive response to RT.

Many events could have explained this complete shift and the loss of an anti-tumorigenic immune environment seen in this experiment in our triple combination group. This could be caused by poor NET degradation over time, poorly timed DNAse I administration and finally, antibody production against DNAse I.

For instance, the treatment regimen could have been not stringent enough to degrade the NETs on a long-term basis. DNAse I must be administered every day for it to effectively degrade NETs and permanently remove these from the system. Neutrophils are the most short-lived cell in our immune system, reaching the target tissue after 6 to 10 hours in the circulation, and therefore must constantly be replenished by the bone marrow [157]. Since neutrophils are tightly regulated, follow a circadian rhythm and must be replenished as they have a short half-life, NETs are constantly being produced by the newly arriving neutrophils in the TME [157]. To ensure that the NETs produced by the newly arriving neutrophils are degraded, DNAse I must therefore, be given repeatedly. The UPPL tumor model can, on average take up to two months to reach the endpoint we had set, making it highly unpractical and to a certain extent, unethical, to give the mice daily

intramuscular injections of DNAse I for the duration of the 2 months. We therefore switched the regimen after 2 weeks, where we moved from daily injections to injections every three days for the duration of the experiment. Three days might not have been sufficient to maintain the phenotype we see in our midpoint mice, which could explain why at endpoint, our triple combination treatment loses the low neutrophil infiltration phenotype. Therefore, a more frequent regimens could have been more beneficial. To confirm whether this is the case in our study, immunofluorescence of the tissues at endpoint could prove beneficial. If NETs can be observed in the tissue at endpoint, we can clearly then assess that this regimen was not able to sustain NET degradation. In turn, this finding would allow us to confirm that once NETs are not degraded as efficiently, the tumor starts to progress, and a response is not sustained, proving our rationale is correct and that NETs do play an important role in this cold tumor model of MIBC.

This logic could also be applied to the other treatment given to the mice. As the kinetics of this tumor are very slow, and mice survive for 2 months following treatment initiation, giving multiple rounds of RT and anti-PD-L1 could have been more beneficial, as the effects could be lost after such a long period of time.

Another interesting possibility would be to alter the treatment regimen as to give DNAse I before RT doses. RT causes an influx in immune cells and one of the first cells to migrate to the TME are the neutrophils. By blocking NET production, we'd allow a more efficient infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the TME early on, since NETs will not be able to form efficiently and durably. By giving DNAse I at least an hour prior to RT, any NETs that may be induced by RT will be immediately degraded. By giving RT before DNAse, some NETs can start being produced and impacting the TME before DNAse I could be administered and reach the target area and therefore, promoting a pro-tumorigenic microenvironment shortly at the beginning of the response.

A final possibility is the production of antibodies against DNAse I enzymes given systemically. B cells are a subset of immune cells that produce antibodies against specific antigens to target the danger at hand. B cell biology and production of antibodies is a process by which the B cell will undergo multiple rounds of antibody production in the germinal center, each round producing antibodies that have higher affinities to the detected danger or foreign object [158]. Therefore, the DNAse I used in our experiments, which is derived from bovine pancreas, could have been detected as a foreign object by the immune system, and an immune response could have been triggered against the enzyme. This would cause the DNAse I to be cleared out of the system much quicker than it would have at the beginning of the treatment. Therefore, reducing the amount of DNAse I given towards the end of the experiment, in synergy with the possibility of antibodies against the enzyme being produced, could have not been sufficient to block NET formation. NET could be degraded for a short period of time, but quickly start being produced and have their protumorigenic effect in the TME. This presents a limitation to the setup of the experiment, as the slow kinetics of the UPPL tumor model does not allow us to administer DNAse I for a short period of time only.

The radiation doses used in this study also need to be optimized, as certain doses could potentially be more beneficial. Some pro-tumorigenic cells, such as T<sub>REG</sub> cells are more resistant to radiation therapy compared to other immune cells [159]. This promotes the pro-tumorigenic and immunosuppressive environment in the TME, which allows cancer progression. By optimizing the dosages at which tumor cells are targeted and killed, while also preserving more of the pro-inflammatory and anti-tumorigenic immune cells in the TME, we may further enhance targeted radiation therapy in this study and eventually, in the clinic.

This experiment sets the stage for further research on immunological changes overall. Changes throughout time in our triple combination group have been observed not only in the neutrophils and CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells but also in other immune compartments. So far, the neutrophils and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell changes in our triple combination group indicate that early on, there is an antitumorigenic environment, which switches to a pro-tumorigenic environment at the endpoint timepoint. An increase in macrophages towards the endpoint and a decrease in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are also seen, but the specific subsets of these have not been elucidated. The limitations of our flow cytometry panel do not allow us to determine whether the macrophages increasing over time are anti-tumorigenic (M1 macrophages) or pro-tumorigenic (M2 macrophages). This also applies to the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which we did not have an extensive marker list to understand which subset of these is at play in the response observed. Understanding this would allow us to determine whether the changes in these other immune compartments also promote a shift towards a pro-tumorigenic environment in our triple combination group. Understanding this shift will bring us closer to finding a way to try and sustain the initial anti-tumorigenic response as long as possible. Another subset of cells that have recently been researched a lot in cancer studies are NK cells. These cells have been neglected in cancer progression for a while, but they are just as important for tumor clearance as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Our panel had no marker for NK cells and therefore, their infiltration could not be assessed. Presence of NK cells in the TME could be beneficial, as they could aid CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in tumor clearance.

## CHAPTER 8: Conclusion

UPPL cell line model is a murine MIBC model, which simulates a luminal molecular subtype. It's also used as a cold tumor model, which has very low anti-tumorigenic immune infiltration, such as T cell infiltration. To determine whether we could improve radiation therapy response in this tumor model, we've tried to radiosensitize using combinations of anti-PD-L1 and DNAse I. Using both of these would allow to target T cells and increase their activity, while DNAse I would allow to degrade the NETs, which have been shown to play an important role in tumor progression in another of our murine MIBC mouse model. By modulating the immune system, we've sought out to understand the role of these neutrophils and NETs in this less commonly studied MIBC model.

By combining the different treatments, we've noticed that some mice respond to certain treatments while others do not. The main immune difference between the responder and non-responder was seen in an increase in neutrophils in mice who did not respond to RT or our double combination groups. However, our triple combination group, receiving a combination of RT, anti-PD-L1 and DNAse I only had responders. To understand why this group appeared to function this way, we observed immunological differences early in the response. We've established that this group had the highest cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell infiltration, coupled with a relatively low neutrophil infiltration, which could promote the response seen in all mice of this group. Nevertheless, this infiltration was not sustained over time, and better treatment regimens would be necessary to improve response and delay tumor growth even more.

Overall, the UPPL model has shown to be a good model to use in the study of MIBC, along with the widely used MB49 tumor model. Understanding radioresistance in both models, and the

differences among these models, could help predict outcome in the clinic and improve treatment of patients diagnosed with MIBC.

## <u>References</u>

- Cumberbatch MGK, Jubber I, Black PC, Esperto F, Figueroa JD, Kamat AM, Kiemeney L, Lotan Y, Pang K, Silverman DT *et al*: Epidemiology of Bladder Cancer: A Systematic Review and Contemporary Update of Risk Factors in 2018. *European* Urology 2018, 74(6):784-795.
- 2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal AJCacjfc: Cancer statistics, 2022. 2022.
- 3. Mossanen MJHOC: The epidemiology of bladder cancer. 2021, 35(3):445-455.
- 4. Saginala K, Barsouk A, Aluru JS, Rawla P, Padala SA, Barsouk AJMs: **Epidemiology of bladder cancer**. 2020, **8**(1):15.
- Letašiová S, Medveďová A, Šovčíková A, Dušinská M, Volkovová K, Mosoiu C, Bartonová A: Bladder cancer, a review of the environmental risk factors. Environmental Health 2012, 11(1):S11.
- 6. Bjurlin MA, Matulewicz RS, Roberts TR, Dearing BA, Schatz D, Sherman S, Gordon T, Shahawy OE: Carcinogen Biomarkers in the Urine of Electronic Cigarette Users and Implications for the Development of Bladder Cancer: A Systematic Review. *European Urology Oncology* 2021, 4(5):766-783.
- 7. Baris D, Karagas MR, Verrill C, Johnson A, Andrew AS, Marsit CJ, Schwenn M, Colt JS, Cherala S, Samanic CJJJotNCI: A case–control study of smoking and bladder cancer risk: emergent patterns over time. 2009, 101(22):1553-1561.
- 8. Baris D, Waddell R, Beane Freeman LE, Schwenn M, Colt JS, Ayotte JD, Ward MH, Nuckols J, Schned A, Jackson BJJJotNCI: Elevated bladder cancer in Northern New England: the role of drinking water and arsenic. 2016, 108(9).
- 9. Hoffman AM, Cairns PJE: **Epigenetics of kidney cancer and bladder cancer**. 2011, **3**(1):19-34.
- Van der Post R, Kiemeney L, Ligtenberg M, Witjes J, Hulsbergen-Van De Kaa C, Bodmer D, Schaap L, Kets C, Van Krieken J, Hoogerbrugge NJJomg: Risk of urothelial bladder cancer in Lynch syndrome is increased, in particular among MSH2 mutation carriers. 2010, 47(7):464-470.
- 11. Santos LL, Santos J, Gouveia MJ, Bernardo C, Lopes C, Rinaldi G, Brindley PJ, Costa JMJJoCM: Urogenital schistosomiasis—history, pathogenesis, and bladder cancer. 2021, 10(2):205.
- 12. Robertson AG, Kim J, Al-Ahmadie H, Bellmunt J, Guo G, Cherniack AD, Hinoue T, Laird PW, Hoadley KA, Akbani R *et al*: **Comprehensive Molecular Characterization of Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer**. *Cell* 2017, **171**(3):540-556.e525.
- 13. Wu G, Wang F, Li K, Li S, Zhao C, Fan C, Wang JJP: **Significance of TP53 mutation in bladder cancer disease progression and drug selection**. 2019, **7**:e8261.
- 14. Zhang X, Zhang YJCb, biophysics: **Bladder cancer and genetic mutations**. 2015, **73**(1):65-69.
- 15. Iwakuma T, Lozano GJMCR: **MDM2**, an introduction. 2003, **1**(14):993-1000.
- 16. Onat OE, Tez M, Özçelik T, Törüner GAJAr: **MDM2 T309G polymorphism is** associated with bladder cancer. 2006, **26**(5A):3473-3475.
- Simon R, Struckmann K, Schraml P, Wagner U, Forster T, Moch H, Fijan A, Bruderer J, Wilber K, Mihatsch MJJO: Amplification pattern of 12q13-q15 genes (MDM2, CDK4, GLI) in urinary bladder cancer. 2002, 21(16):2476-2483.

- 18. Tran L, Xiao J-F, Agarwal N, Duex JE, Theodorescu DJNRC: Advances in bladder cancer biology and therapy. 2021, **21**(2):104-121.
- 19. Hernandez-Quiles M, Broekema MF, Kalkhoven E: **PPARgamma in Metabolism**, **Immunity, and Cancer: Unified and Diverse Mechanisms of Action**. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 2021, **12**.
- 20. Tate T, Xiang T, Wobker SE, Zhou M, Chen X, Kim H, Batourina E, Lin C-S, Kim WY, Lu C *et al*: **Pparg signaling controls bladder cancer subtype and immune exclusion**. *Nature Communications* 2021, **12**(1):6160.
- Kaufman DS, Shipley WU, Feldman AS: Bladder cancer. *The Lancet* 2009, 374(9685):239-249.
- 22. Bladder Cancer Signs and Symptoms [https://www.cancer.org/cancer/bladdercancer/detection-diagnosis-staging/signs-and-symptoms.html]
- 23. Sharma S, Ksheersagar P, Sharma PJAfp: **Diagnosis and treatment of bladder cancer**. 2009, **80**(7):717-723.
- 24. DeGeorge KC, Holt HR, Hodges SCJAfp: Bladder cancer: diagnosis and treatment. 2017, **96**(8):507-514.
- 25. Cheung G, Sahai A, Billia M, Dasgupta P, Khan MS: **Recent advances in the diagnosis** and treatment of bladder cancer. *BMC Medicine* 2013, **11**(1):13.
- 26. Kamat AM, Hahn NM, Efstathiou JA, Lerner SP, Malmström P-U, Choi W, Guo CC, Lotan Y, Kassouf WJTL: **Bladder cancer**. 2016, **388**(10061):2796-2810.
- 27. Huang HM, Li HXJCC: Tumor heterogeneity and the potential role of liquid biopsy in bladder cancer. 2021, 41(2):91-108.
- 28. Lodewijk I, Dueñas M, Rubio C, Munera-Maravilla E, Segovia C, Bernardini A, Teijeira A, Paramio JM, Suárez-Cabrera CJIjoms: Liquid biopsy biomarkers in bladder cancer: a current need for patient diagnosis and monitoring. 2018, **19**(9):2514.
- 29. Felsenstein KM, Theodorescu D: Precision medicine for urothelial bladder cancer: update on tumour genomics and immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Urology* 2018, 15(2):92-111.
- 30. Botelho MC, Alves H, Richter J: Halting Schistosoma haematobium associated bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer Manag* 2017, **10**(9):e9430.
- 31. Chalasani V, Chin JL, Izawa JIJCUAJ: Histologic variants of urothelial bladder cancer and nonurothelial histology in bladder cancer. 2009, **3**(6 Suppl 4):S193.
- 32. Berdik C: Unlocking bladder cancer. *Nature* 2017, **551**(7679):S34-S35.
- 33. Damrauer JS, Hoadley KA, Chism DD, Fan C, Tiganelli CJ, Wobker SE, Yeh JJ, Milowsky MI, Iyer G, Parker JSJPotnaos: Intrinsic subtypes of high-grade bladder cancer reflect the hallmarks of breast cancer biology. 2014, 111(8):3110-3115.
- 34. Jacobs BL, Lee CT, Montie JEJCacjfc: Bladder cancer in 2010: how far have we come? 2010, 60(4):244-272.
- 35. Lenis AT, Lec PM, Chamie KJJ: Bladder cancer: a review. 2020, 324(19):1980-1991.
- 36. McConkey RW, Dowling M: Supportive Care Needs of Patients on Surveillance and Treatment for Non-Muscle-Invasive Bladder Cancer. In: Seminars in Oncology Nursing: 2021: Elsevier; 2021: 151105.
- 37. Van Den Bosch S, Witjes JAJEu: Long-term cancer-specific survival in patients with high-risk, non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer and tumour progression: a systematic review. 2011, 60(3):493-500.

- 38. Abern MR, Owusu RA, Anderson MR, Rampersaud EN, Inman BAJJotNCCN: Perioperative intravesical chemotherapy in non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 2013, 11(4):477-484.
- 39. Sylvester RJ, Oosterlinck W, van der MEIJDEN APJTJou: A single immediate postoperative instillation of chemotherapy decreases the risk of recurrence in patients with stage Ta T1 bladder cancer: a meta-analysis of published results of randomized clinical trials. 2004, 171(6 Part 1):2186-2190.
- Schmidt S, Kunath F, Coles B, Draeger DL, Krabbe LM, Dersch R, Kilian S, Jensen K, Dahm P, Meerpohl JJJCDoSR: Intravesical bacillus Calmette Guérin versus mitomycin C for Ta and T1 bladder cancer. 2020(1).
- 41. Addeo R, Caraglia M, Bellini S, Abbruzzese A, Vincenzi B, Montella L, Miragliuolo A, Guarrasi R, Lanna M, Cennamo GJJoco: Randomized phase III trial on gemcitabine versus mytomicin in recurrent superficial bladder cancer: evaluation of efficacy and tolerance. 2010, 28(4):543-548.
- 42. Herr HW, Dalbagni G, Donat SMJEu: Bacillus Calmette-Guérin without maintenance therapy for high-risk non–muscle-invasive bladder cancer. 2011, 60(1):32-36.
- 43. Packiam VT, Johnson SC, Steinberg GDJC: Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer:

Intravesical treatments beyond Bacille C almette - G uérin. 2017, 123(3):390-400.

- 44. Peyton CC, Chipollini J, Azizi M, Kamat AM, Gilbert SM, Spiess PEJWjou: Updates on the use of intravesical therapies for non-muscle invasive bladder cancer: how, when and what. 2019, **37**(10):2017-2029.
- 45. Kamat AM, Colombel M, Sundi D, Lamm D, Boehle A, Brausi M, Buckley R, Persad R, Palou J, Soloway MJNRU: **BCG-unresponsive non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer:** recommendations from the IBCG. 2017, 14(4):244-255.
- 46. Tyson MD, Barocas DAJUC: **Quality of life after radical cystectomy**. 2018, **45**(2):249-256.
- 47. Hamad J, McCloskey H, Milowsky MI, Royce T, Smith AJIbju: **Bladder preservation** in muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a comprehensive review. 2020, **46**:169-184.
- 48. Patel VG, Oh WK, Galsky MDJCacjfc: **Treatment of muscle invasive and advanced bladder cancer in 2020**. 2020, **70**(5):404-423.
- 49. Liedberg FJEus: Early complications and morbidity of radical cystectomy. 2010, 9(1):25-30.
- 50. Shabsigh A, Korets R, Vora KC, Brooks CM, Cronin AM, Savage C, Raj G, Bochner BH, Dalbagni G, Herr HWJEu: Defining early morbidity of radical cystectomy for patients with bladder cancer using a standardized reporting methodology. 2009, 55(1):164-176.
- Cooke P, Dunn J, Latief T, Bathers S, James N, Wallace DJEu: Long–Term Risk of Salvage Cystectomy after Radiotherapy for Muscle–Invasive Bladder Cancer. 2000, 38(3):279-286.
- 52. Tholomier C, Souhami L, Kassouf WJTa, urology: **Bladder-sparing protocols in the treatment of muscle-invasive bladder cancer**. 2020, **9**(6):2920.
- 53. Peak TC, Hemal AJTA, Urology: **Partial cystectomy for muscle-invasive bladder** cancer: a review of the literature. 2020, **9**(6):2938.
- 54. Ploussard G, Daneshmand S, Efstathiou JA, Herr HW, James ND, Rödel CM, Shariat SF, Shipley WU, Sternberg CN, Thalmann GNJEu: **Critical analysis of bladder sparing**

with trimodal therapy in muscle-invasive bladder cancer: a systematic review. 2014, **66**(1):120-137.

- 55. Nadal R, Bellmunt JJCtr: Management of metastatic bladder cancer. 2019, 76:10-21.
- 56. Bianchi M, Roghmann F, Becker A, Sukumar S, Briganti A, Menon M, Karakiewicz PI, Sun M, Noldus J, Trinh Q-DJCUAJ: Age-stratified distribution of metastatic sites in bladder cancer: a population-based analysis. 2014, 8(3-4):E148.
- 57. Loriot Y, Necchi A, Park SH, Garcia-Donas J, Huddart R, Burgess E, Fleming M, Rezazadeh A, Mellado B, Varlamov SJNEJoM: Erdafitinib in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma. 2019, **381**(4):338-348.
- 58. Kamoun A, de Reyniès A, Allory Y, Sjödahl G, Robertson AG, Seiler R, Hoadley KA, Groeneveld CS, Al-Ahmadie H, Choi WJEu: A consensus molecular classification of muscle-invasive bladder cancer. 2020, 77(4):420-433.
- 59. Chan KS, Volkmer J-P, Weissman IJCoiu: Cancer stem cells in bladder cancer: a revisited and evolving concept. 2010, 20(5):393.
- 60. Choi W, Czerniak B, Ochoa A, Su X, Siefker-Radtke A, Dinney C, McConkey DJJNRU: Intrinsic basal and luminal subtypes of muscle-invasive bladder cancer. 2014, 11(7):400-410.
- 61. McConkey DJ, Choi WJCor: Molecular subtypes of bladder cancer. 2018, 20(10):1-7.
- 62. Seiler R, Ashab HAD, Erho N, van Rhijn BW, Winters B, Douglas J, Van Kessel KE, van de Putte EEF, Sommerlad M, Wang NQJEu: Impact of molecular subtypes in muscle-invasive bladder cancer on predicting response and survival after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. 2017, 72(4):544-554.
- 63. Rebouissou S, Bernard-Pierrot I, de Reyniès A, Lepage M-L, Krucker C, Chapeaublanc E, Hérault A, Kamoun A, Caillault A, Letouzé EJStm: EGFR as a potential therapeutic target for a subset of muscle-invasive bladder cancers presenting a basal-like phenotype. 2014, 6(244):244ra291-244ra291.
- 64. Rose M, Maurer A, Wirtz J, Bleilevens A, Waldmann T, Wenz M, Eyll M, Geelvink M, Gereitzig M, Rüchel NJO: EGFR activity addiction facilitates anti-ERBB based combination treatment of squamous bladder cancer. 2020, **39**(44):6856-6870.
- 65. Saito R, Smith CC, Utsumi T, Bixby LM, Kardos J, Wobker SE, Stewart KG, Chai S, Manocha U, Byrd KMJCr: Molecular subtype-specific immunocompetent models of high-grade urothelial carcinoma reveal differential neoantigen expression and response to immunotherapy. 2018, 78(14):3954-3968.
- 66. Silina L, Maksut F, Bernard-Pierrot I, Radvanyi F, Créhange G, Mégnin-Chanet F, Verrelle PJC: **Review of experimental studies to improve radiotherapy response in bladder cancer: Comments and perspectives**. 2020, **13**(1):87.
- 67. Pawlik TM, Keyomarsi KJIJoROBP: Role of cell cycle in mediating sensitivity to radiotherapy. 2004, **59**(4):928-942.
- 68. Ruan J-L, Hsu J-W, Browning RJ, Stride E, Yildiz YO, Vojnovic B, Kiltie AEJEUO: Mouse Models of Muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer: Key Considerations for Clinical Translation Based on Molecular Subtypes. 2019, 2(3):239-247.
- 69. Seo HK, Shin S-P, Jung N-R, Kwon W-A, Jeong K-C, Lee S-JJO: The establishment of a growth-controllable orthotopic bladder cancer model through the down-regulation of c-myc expression. 2017, 8(31):50500.
- 70. Huang C-P, Hsieh T-F, Chen C-C, Hung X-F, Yu A-L, Chang C, Shyr C-RJB, Communications BR: **Anabolic androgens affect the competitive interactions in cell**

migration and adhesion between normal mouse urothelial cells and urothelial carcinoma cells. 2014, **452**(3):322-327.

- 71. Fabris VT, Lodillinsky C, Pampena MB, Belgorosky D, Lanari C, Eiján AMJCg: Cytogenetic characterization of the murine bladder cancer model MB49 and the derived invasive line MB49-I. 2012, 205(4):168-176.
- 72. Fantini D, Glaser AP, Rimar KJ, Wang Y, Schipma M, Varghese N, Rademaker A, Behdad A, Yellapa A, Yu YJO: A Carcinogen-induced mouse model recapitulates the molecular alterations of human muscle invasive bladder cancer. 2018, 37(14):1911-1925.
- 73. Puzio-Kuter AM, Castillo-Martin M, Kinkade CW, Wang X, Shen TH, Matos T, Shen MM, Cordon-Cardo C, Abate-Shen CJG, development: **Inactivation of p53 and Pten promotes invasive bladder cancer**. 2009, **23**(6):675-680.
- 74. Kim BM, Hong Y, Lee S, Liu P, Lim JH, Lee YH, Lee TH, Chang KT, Hong YJIjoms: **Therapeutic implications for overcoming radiation resistance in cancer therapy**. 2015, **16**(11):26880-26913.
- 75. Wang J-s, Wang H-j, Qian H-lJMMR: **Biological effects of radiation on cancer cells**. 2018, **5**(1):1-10.
- 76. Frey B, Rubner Y, Wunderlich R, Weiss E-M, G Pockley A, Fietkau R, S Gaipl UJCmc: Induction of abscopal anti-tumor immunity and immunogenic tumor cell death by ionizing irradiation-implications for cancer therapies. 2012, **19**(12):1751-1764.
- 77. Barker HE, Paget JT, Khan AA, Harrington KJJNRC: The tumour microenvironment after radiotherapy: mechanisms of resistance and recurrence. 2015, 15(7):409-425.
- 78. Trenner A, Sartori AAJFio: Harnessing DNA double-strand break repair for cancer treatment. 2019, 9:1388.
- 79. Kan C, Zhang JJIJoROBP: **BRCA1 mutation: a predictive marker for radiation therapy?** 2015, **93**(2):281-293.
- 80. D'Arcy MSJCbi: Cell death: a review of the major forms of apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. 2019, 43(6):582-592.
- 81. Golden EB, Apetoh L: Radiotherapy and immunogenic cell death. In: Seminars in radiation oncology: 2015: Elsevier; 2015: 11-17.
- 82. Sia J, Szmyd R, Hau E, Gee HEJFic, biology d: Molecular mechanisms of radiationinduced cancer cell death: a primer. 2020, 8:41.
- 83. Fink SL, Cookson BTJI, immunity: Apoptosis, pyroptosis, and necrosis: mechanistic description of dead and dying eukaryotic cells. 2005, 73(4):1907-1916.
- 84. Gong Y, Fan Z, Luo G, Yang C, Huang Q, Fan K, Cheng H, Jin K, Ni Q, Yu X *et al*: **The role of necroptosis in cancer biology and therapy**. *Molecular Cancer* 2019, **18**(1):100.
- 85. Tabasso AF, Jones DJ, Jones GD, Macip SJCO: Radiotherapy-induced senescence and its effects on responses to treatment. 2019, **31**(5):283-289.
- Eriksson D, Stigbrand TJTB: Radiation-induced cell death mechanisms. 2010, 31(4):363-372.
- 87. Tam SY, Wu VWC, Law HKWJRO: Influence of autophagy on the efficacy of radiotherapy. 2017, **12**(1):1-10.
- 88. Demaria S, Formenti SCJFio: Radiation as an immunological adjuvant: current evidence on dose and fractionation. 2012, **2**:153.
- 89. Boustani J, Grapin M, Laurent P-A, Apetoh L, Mirjolet CJC: **The 6th R of radiobiology:** reactivation of anti-tumor immune response. 2019, **11**(6):860.

- 90. Makinde AY, Eke I, Aryankalayil MJ, Ahmed MM, Coleman CN: **Exploiting gene** expression kinetics in conventional radiotherapy, hyperfractionation, and hypofractionation for targeted therapy. In: *Seminars in radiation oncology: 2016*: Elsevier; 2016: 254-260.
- 91. Choudhury A, Porta N, Hall E, Song YP, Owen R, MacKay R, West CM, Lewis R, Hussain SA, James NDJTLO: **Hypofractionated radiotherapy in locally advanced bladder cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of the BC2001 and BCON trials**. 2021, **22**(2):246-255.
- 92. Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RDJARI: The three Es of cancer immunoediting. 2004, 22:329-360.
- 93. Demaria O, Cornen S, Daëron M, Morel Y, Medzhitov R, Vivier EJN: Harnessing innate immunity in cancer therapy. 2019, **574**(7776):45-56.
- 94. Artis D, Spits HJN: The biology of innate lymphoid cells. 2015, 517(7534):293-301.
- 95. Netea MG, Joosten LA, Latz E, Mills KH, Natoli G, Stunnenberg HG, O'Neill LA, Xavier RJJS: **Trained immunity: a program of innate immune memory in health and disease**. 2016, **352**(6284):aaf1098.
- Nie Y, Yang D, Oppenheim JJJCt: Alarmins and antitumor immunity. 2016, 38(5):1042-1053.
- 97. Oppenheim JJ, Tewary P, Rosa Gdl, Yang DJI-MD: Alarmins initiate host defense. 2007:185-194.
- 98. Bonaventura P, Shekarian T, Alcazer V, Valladeau-Guilemond J, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Amigorena S, Caux C, Depil SJFii: **Cold tumors: a therapeutic challenge for immunotherapy**. 2019:168.
- 99. Rahat MA, Bitterman H, Lahat NJFii: Molecular mechanisms regulating macrophage response to hypoxia. 2011, 2:45.
- 100. Najafi M, Hashemi Goradel N, Farhood B, Salehi E, Nashtaei MS, Khanlarkhani N, Khezri Z, Majidpoor J, Abouzaripour M, Habibi MJJocb: Macrophage polarity in cancer: a review. 2019, 120(3):2756-2765.
- 101. Kim J, Bae J-SJMoi: Tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils in tumor microenvironment. 2016, 2016.
- Veglia F, Gabrilovich DIJCoii: Dendritic cells in cancer: the role revisited. 2017, 45:43-51.
- 103. Jaillon S, Ponzetta A, Di Mitri D, Santoni A, Bonecchi R, Mantovani AJNRC: Neutrophil diversity and plasticity in tumour progression and therapy. 2020, 20(9):485-503.
- 104. Masucci MT, Minopoli M, Del Vecchio S, Carriero MVJFii: The emerging role of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in tumor progression and metastasis. 2020, 11:1749.
- 105. Cools-Lartigue J, Spicer J, McDonald B, Gowing S, Chow S, Giannias B, Bourdeau F, Kubes P, Ferri LJTJoci: Neutrophil extracellular traps sequester circulating tumor cells and promote metastasis. 2013, 123(8):3446-3458.
- 106. Flemming AJNRI: Tumours use NETs as physical shields. 2020, 20(6):352-353.
- 107. Tang X, Wang S, An C, Du P, Yang YJAr: **Preoperative high neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio is associated with high-grade bladder cancer**. 2017, **37**(8):4659-4663.

- 108. Templeton AJ, McNamara MG, Šeruga B, Vera-Badillo FE, Aneja P, Ocaña A, Leibowitz-Amit R, Sonpavde G, Knox JJ, Tran BJJJotNCI: Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and metaanalysis. 2014, 106(6).
- 109. Mishalian I, Bayuh R, Levy L, Zolotarov L, Michaeli J, Fridlender ZGJCI, Immunotherapy: Tumor-associated neutrophils (TAN) develop pro-tumorigenic properties during tumor progression. 2013, 62(11):1745-1756.
- 110. Yang D, de la Rosa G, Tewary P, Oppenheim JJJTii: Alarmins link neutrophils and dendritic cells. 2009, **30**(11):531-537.
- 111. Vono M, Lin A, Norrby-Teglund A, Koup RA, Liang F, Loré KJB, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology: Neutrophils acquire the capacity for antigen presentation to memory CD4+ T cells in vitro and ex vivo. 2017, 129(14):1991-2001.
- 112. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj SJNri: Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. 2009, 9(3):162-174.
- 113. Dysthe M, Parihar RJTm: Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. 2020:117-140.
- 114. Zhou J, Nefedova Y, Lei A, Gabrilovich D: Neutrophils and PMN-MDSC: Their biological role and interaction with stromal cells. In: *Seminars in immunology: 2018*: Elsevier; 2018: 19-28.
- 115. Quail DF, Amulic B, Aziz M, Barnes BJ, Eruslanov E, Fridlender ZG, Goodridge HS, Granot Z, Hidalgo A, Huttenlocher A *et al*: **Neutrophil phenotypes and functions in cancer: A consensus statement**. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 2022, **219**(6).
- 116. Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie AN, Mebius REJNri: Innate lymphoid cells—a proposal for uniform nomenclature. 2013, 13(2):145-149.
- 117. Zamai L, Ponti C, Mirandola P, Gobbi G, Papa S, Galeotti L, Cocco L, Vitale MJTJoI: NK cells and cancer. 2007, **178**(7):4011-4016.
- Bald T, Krummel MF, Smyth MJ, Barry KC: The NK cell–cancer cycle: advances and new challenges in NK cell–based immunotherapies. *Nature Immunology* 2020, 21(8):835-847.
- 119. Firestein GS, Budd RC, Gabriel SE, McInnes IB, O'Dell JR: Firestein & Kelley's Textbook of Rheumatology-E-Book: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2020.
- 120. Tay RE, Richardson EK, Toh HCJCGT: Revisiting the role of CD4+ T cells in cancer immunotherapy—new insights into old paradigms. 2021, 28(1):5-17.
- 121. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda MJTJoI: Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. 1995, 155(3):1151-1164.
- 122. Togashi Y, Shitara K, Nishikawa HJNrCo: **Regulatory T cells in cancer immunosuppression—implications for anticancer therapy**. 2019, **16**(6):356-371.
- 123. Raskov H, Orhan A, Christensen JP, Gögenur IJBjoc: Cytotoxic CD8+ T cells in cancer and cancer immunotherapy. 2021, 124(2):359-367.
- 124. Voskoboinik I, Whisstock JC, Trapani JAJNRI: **Perforin and granzymes: function,** dysfunction and human pathology. 2015, **15**(6):388-400.
- 125. Volpe E, Sambucci M, Battistini L, Borsellino GJFii: Fas-fas ligand: Checkpoint of t cell functions in multiple sclerosis. 2016, 7:382.

- Kursunel MA, Esendagli GJC, reviews gf: The untold story of IFN-γ in cancer biology. 2016, 31:73-81.
- 127. Ilie M, Hofman V, Ortholan C, Bonnetaud C, Coëlle C, Mouroux J, Hofman PJC:
  Predictive clinical outcome of the intratumoral CD66b positive neutrophil to -

**CD8** - positive **T** - cell ratio in patients with resectable nonsmall cell lung cancer. 2012, **118**(6):1726-1737.

- 128. Kawahara T, Furuya K, Nakamura M, Sakamaki K, Osaka K, Ito H, Ito Y, Izumi K, Ohtake S, Miyoshi YJBc: Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a prognostic marker in bladder cancer patients after radical cystectomy. 2016, 16(1):1-8.
- 129. Shinde-Jadhav S, Mansure JJ, Rayes RF, Marcq G, Ayoub M, Skowronski R, Kool R, Bourdeau F, Brimo F, Spicer JJNc: Role of neutrophil extracellular traps in radiation resistance of invasive bladder cancer. 2021, 12(1):1-14.
- 130. Bray LJ, Hutmacher DW, Bock NJFiB, Biotechnology: Addressing patient specificity in the engineering of tumor models. 2019:217.
- 131. Liu Y-T, Sun Z-JJT: **Turning cold tumors into hot tumors by improving T-cell infiltration**. 2021, **11**(11):5365.
- 132. Combes AJ, Samad B, Tsui J, Chew NW, Yan P, Reeder GC, Kushnoor D, Shen A, Davidson B, Barczak AJJC: **Discovering dominant tumor immune archetypes in a pan-cancer census**. 2022, **185**(1):184-203. e119.
- 133. Sato H, Okonogi N, Nakano TJIJoCO: **Rationale of combination of anti-PD-1/PD-L1** antibody therapy and radiotherapy for cancer treatment. 2020, **25**(5):801-809.
- 134. Deng L, Liang H, Xu M, Yang X, Burnette B, Arina A, Li X-D, Mauceri H, Beckett M, Darga TJI: STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing promotes radiation-induced type I interferon-dependent antitumor immunity in immunogenic tumors. 2014, 41(5):843-852.
- 135. Suek N, Campesato LF, Merghoub T, Khalil DNJFii: **Targeted APC activation in** cancer immunotherapy to enhance the abscopal effect. 2019, **10**:604.
- 136. Liu Y, Dong Y, Kong L, Shi F, Zhu H, Yu JJJoh, oncology: Abscopal effect of radiotherapy combined with immune checkpoint inhibitors. 2018, **11**(1):1-15.
- 137. Kachikwu EL, Iwamoto KS, Liao Y-P, DeMarco JJ, Agazaryan N, Economou JS, McBride WH, Schaue DJIJoROBP: Radiation enhances regulatory T cell representation. 2011, 81(4):1128-1135.
- 138. Sato H, Okonogi N, Yoshimoto Y, Tamaki T, Suzuki YJGtKrC, Chemotherapy: Radiotherapy and PD-L1 expression. 2019, 46(5):845-849.
- 139. Sato H, Niimi A, Yasuhara T, Permata TBM, Hagiwara Y, Isono M, Nuryadi E, Sekine R, Oike T, Kakoti SJNc: **DNA double-strand break repair pathway regulates PD-L1** expression in cancer cells. 2017, 8(1):1-11.
- 140. Zhang J-y, Yan Y-y, Li J-j, Adhikari R, Fu L-wJFip: **PD-1/PD-L1 based combinational** cancer therapy: icing on the cake. 2020, 11:722.
- 141. Han Y, Liu D, Li LJAjocr: **PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: current researches in cancer**. 2020, **10**(3):727.
- 142. He G, Zhang H, Zhou J, Wang B, Chen Y, Kong Y, Xie X, Wang X, Fei R, Wei LJJoE *et al*: Peritumoural neutrophils negatively regulate adaptive immunity via the PD-L1/PD-1 signalling pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma. 2015, **34**(1):1-11.
- 143. Akinleye A, Rasool ZJJoh, oncology: **Immune checkpoint inhibitors of PD-L1 as** cancer therapeutics. 2019, **12**(1):1-13.

- 144. Philips EA, Garcia-España A, Tocheva AS, Ahearn IM, Adam KR, Pan R, Mor A, Kong X-PJJoBC: The structural features that distinguish PD-L2 from PD-L1 emerged in placental mammals. 2020, **295**(14):4372-4380.
- 145. Dermani FK, Samadi P, Rahmani G, Kohlan AK, Najafi RJJocp: **PD 1/PD L1** immune checkpoint: potential target for cancer therapy. 2019, **234**(2):1313-1325.
- 146. Lee L, Gupta M, Sahasranaman SJTjocp: **Immune Checkpoint inhibitors: An** introduction to the next - generation cancer immunotherapy. 2016, **56**(2):157-169.
- 147. Lopez-Beltran A, Cimadamore A, Blanca A, Massari F, Vau N, Scarpelli M, Cheng L, Montironi RJC: Immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of bladder cancer. 2021, 13(1):131.
- 148. Nowicki TS, Hu-Lieskovan S, Ribas AJCj: Mechanisms of resistance to PD-1 and PD-L1 blockade. 2018, 24(1):47.
- 149. Koyama S, Akbay EA, Li YY, Herter-Sprie GS, Buczkowski KA, Richards WG, Gandhi L, Redig AJ, Rodig SJ, Asahina HJNc: Adaptive resistance to therapeutic PD-1 blockade is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints. 2016, 7(1):1-9.
- 150. Seidel JA, Otsuka A, Kabashima KJFio: Anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 therapies in cancer: mechanisms of action, efficacy, and limitations. 2018, 8:86.
- 151. Lee KH, Kronbichler A, Park DD-Y, Park Y, Moon H, Kim H, Choi JH, Choi Y, Shim S, Lyu ISJAr: Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive review. 2017, 16(11):1160-1173.
- 152. Suri R, Marshall LJ, Wallis C, Metcalfe C, Bush A, Shute JK: Effects of Recombinant Human DNase and Hypertonic Saline on Airway Inflammation in Children with Cystic Fibrosis. 2002, 166(3):352-355.
- 153. Rompré-Brodeur A, Shinde-Jadhav S, Ayoub M, Piccirillo CA, Seuntjens J, Brimo F, Mansure JJ, Kassouf W: PD-1/PD-L1 Immune Checkpoint Inhibition with Radiation in Bladder Cancer: In Situ and Abscopal Effects. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 2020, 19(1):211-220.
- 154. Shinde-Jadhav S, Mansure JJ, Rayes RF, Marcq G, Ayoub M, Skowronski R, Kool R, Bourdeau F, Brimo F, Spicer J *et al*: **Role of neutrophil extracellular traps in radiation resistance of invasive bladder cancer**. *Nature Communications* 2021, **12**(1):2776.
- 155. Huang J: **PD-L1 immune checkpoint inhibition in combination with radiation across different bladder cancer molecular subtypes and influences on immune memory**. 2021.
- 156. Kool R, Marcq G, Shinde-Jadhav S, Mansure JJ, Saleh R, Rajan R, Aprikian A, Tanguay S, Cury FL, Brimo F *et al*: **Role of Serum Lymphocyte-derived Biomarkers in Nonmetastatic Muscle-invasive Bladder Cancer Patients Treated with Trimodal Therapy**. *European Urology Open Science* 2022, **36**:26-33.
- 157. Aroca-Crevillén A, Adrover JM, Hidalgo A: Circadian Features of Neutrophil Biology. 2020, 11.
- 158. Pieper K, Grimbacher B, Eibel HJJoA, Immunology C: **B-cell biology and development**. 2013, **131**(4):959-971.
- Heylmann D, Rödel F, Kindler T, Kaina BJBeBA-RoC: Radiation sensitivity of human and murine peripheral blood lymphocytes, stem and progenitor cells. 2014, 1846(1):121-129.